
Town of Montreat 
Board of Commissioners 

Meeting Agenda 
March 10, 2016 – 7:00 p.m. 

Walkup Building 
 
 

1 

I. Call to Order 

• Pledge of Allegiance 
• Moment of Silence

II. Agenda Adoption 

III. Public Hearings 

A. Proposed 2016-2021 Capital Improvements Plan 
 

IV. Mayor’s Communications 
 

V. Consent Agenda 

A. Meeting Minutes Adoption 

• January 29, 2016, Special Meeting  
• February 4, 2016, Agenda Meeting 
• February 8, 2016, Annual Board Retreat  
• February 11, 2016, Town Council Meeting 

  
B.  Approve Fiscal Year 2015-2016 Budget Amendment  

• Suggested Motion:  To approve Fiscal Year 2015-2016 Budget Amendment #4 to 
reallocate budget to cover sanitation truck repairs 

 
C. Montreat Landcare Committee Appointment 

• Suggested Motion:  To appoint John Johnson to fill the unexpired term of 
Shannon Ingersoll on the Montreat Landcare Committee to expire on January 31, 
2018 

 
D.  Open Space Conservation Committee Appointment 

• Suggested Motion:  To appoint Mary Nell Todd to fill the Montreat Open Space 
Conservation Committee for a two year term to expire on January 31, 2018 

 
E. Asheville Savings Bank Corporate Authorization Resolutions 

• Suggested Motion:  To adopt Corporate Authorization Resolutions #16-03-0001 
through #16-03-0007 amending the Town of Montreat’s list of authorized 
account signatories with Asheville Savings Bank and designating Ron Nalley, 
Angela Murphy, Tim Helms and Kent Otto as authorized signers for the Town’s 
accounts at Asheville Savings Bank.  

Packet Page 1



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Meeting Agenda 
March 10, 2016 

 
 

2 

All items on the Consent Agenda are considered routine, to be enacted by one motion with the 
adoption of the agenda and without discussion.  If a member of the governing body requests 
discussion of an item, it will be removed from the Consent Agenda and considered separately.
 
VI. Town Administrator’s Communications 

• Consent Agenda Review 
• Architectural Design Studio Letter from Mike Cox dated December 22, 2015 
• Buncombe County Emergency Test 
• Other Topics 

 
VII. Administrative Reports 

A. Police Chief  
B. Public Works Director 
C. Finance Officer 
D. Building Inspector/Code Administrator 

VIII.   Public Comment – Agenda Items 

Public comments will be heard during this period for only those items listed on the meeting 
agenda

IX. Old Business 

.   

A. Lookout Road Area-Preliminary Utility Service Plan 
• Suggested Motion: To approve a contract for preliminary utility service 

engineering and planning with McGill Associates in the amount of $8,500 and to 
authorize the Mayor and Town Administrator to execute the necessary contract 
documents. 
 

B. Texas Road Bridge Project 
• Suggested Motion:  To move forward with the Texas Road Bridge project by 

choosing Option ___ from the options listed in KCI Associates letter dated 
February 4, 2016 and to authorize the Mayor and Town Administrator to 
execute the necessary contract documents.     

 
X. New Business 

A.  2016-2021 Capital Improvement Plan  
 
B. Town Services Building Interior Repair 

• Suggested Motion:  To approve contract with ServiceMaster of Hendersonville 
in the amount of $3,400.00 to repair the Town Services Building Interior water 

Packet Page 2



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Meeting Agenda 

March 3, 2016 
 
 

3 

and mold damage and to authorize the Mayor and Town Administrator to 
execute the necessary contract documents. 

   
XI. Public Comment – Other Topics 

Public comments will be heard during this period for other public business items or topics not 
listed on the meeting agenda

XII. Commissioner Communications 

.  

XIII. Meeting Dates 
 

 
Montreat Tree Board March 16, 2016, 10:00 a.m. 

Town Services Office 
 

 
Town Services Office Closed March 25, 2016 

Good Friday 
 

April 5, 2016 Agenda Packets Available 
Town Services Office 

 
April 6, 2016, 9:00 a.m. Montreat Landcare 

Kirk Allen Building 
Swannanoa Room 

 

 
April Agenda Meeting April 7, 2016, 7:00 p.m. 

Public Forum begins at 6:30 p.m. Walkup Building 
 

April 21, 2016, 7:00 p.m. Planning & Zoning Commission 
Walkup Building 

 
April 14, 2016, 7:00 p.m. April Town Council Meeting 

Walkup Building 

XIV.  Closed Session 
• Suggested Motion:  To enter into Closed Session in accordance with North Carolina 

General Statute §143-318.11(3) for attorney consultation regarding the Civil Action:  
Carolyn Zoe Crowder, John L. Currie, Nancy B. Thomas, Henry W. Darden, Jr., and 
wife, Carolyn V. Darden, Plaintiffs, versus the Town of Montreat, Defendant. 
 

XV. Adjournment 
 

Packet Page 3



TOWN OF MONTREAT BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Meeting Date:  March 10, 2016 
 
 
SUBJECT:
 

  2016-2021 Capital Improvements Plan  

 
AGENDA INFORMATION: 

Agenda Location: Public Hearing and New Business 
Item Number: B 
Department:  Administration 
Contact:  Ron Nalley  
Presenter:  Ron Nalley  
 

BRIEF SUMMARY:  A draft of the 2016-2021 Capital Improvements Plan (CIP) will 
be presented to the Board of Commissioners at their meeting in March.  A public hearing 
will be held on March 12 where staff will present a brief summary of the Plan.  As a 
reminder, the CIP is a financial planning tool that looks into the future to forecast the 
Town’s equipment, building and infrastructure needs.  Generally speaking, an item is 
included in the Town’s CIP if it has a life expectancy of greater than one year and a value 
of greater than $5,000.       

RECOMMENDED MOTION AND REQUESTED ACTIONS:
 

  None 

FUNDING SOURCE:
 

  General Fund/Water Fund  

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

  Draft 2016-2021 Capital Improvement Plan Summary 

ADMINISTRATOR’S COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:

 

   At your 
March meeting, I will do a brief presentation to introduce the projects within the CIP and 
determine if there are projects that board members or the public feel need to be added, 
modified or even deleted from the plan.  I will be happy to incorporate any comments we 
receive from the public hearing as well as from Board members, into the draft CIP.  The 
Board will then have a month to review the CIP and to meet as often as you feel is 
necessary to finalize the plan before its scheduled adoption in April.  As always, if you 
have questions concerning any of the plan or specific projects please do not hesitate to 
see me.    

 
 
 
 
 

Packet Page 4



 

Town of Montreat 
P.O. Box 423, Montreat, North Carolina 28757 

Phone:  (828) 669-8002 • Fax:  (828) 669-3810 

www.townofmontreat.org 
 

 

 
Town of Montreat 

Capital Improvement Program 

Fiscal Years 2016 – 2021 

March 10, 2016 
 

General Fund 

  

 Project  

Description 

FY 16-17 

Budget Amount 

Total  

Project Cost 

1 Local Street Paving – Mecklenburg 

Circle and Portion of Louisiana Road 

$310,000 $310,000 

2 Bridge Replacement $200,000 $1,150,000 

3 Town Hall Replacement $100,000 $1,795,000 

4 Sanitation Truck Replacement $75,000 $75,000 

5 Police Vehicle Replacement $36,000 $36,000 

6 Comprehensive Plan Update $35,000 $70,000 

7 GPS/GIS Integration $21,500 $21,500 

8 Dump Truck Replacement (85) $16,500 $82,500 

9 Sander Replacement $6,000 $6,000 

10 Pavement of Compactor Area $25,000 $25,000 

11 Stormwater Utility Study $35,000 $35,000 

12 New Road Paving – Frist Lane $40,000 $40,000 

13 Wayfinding Signage Plan $20,000 $136,000 

14 Native Plant Garden $10,000 $10,000 

 

 

Water Fund 

 

 Project  

Description 

FY 16-17 

Budget Amount 

Total  

Project Cost 

1 Water Line Replacement – 

Mecklenburg Circle and Georgia 

Terrace 

$52,000 $52,000 

2 Water Storage Facility - Greybeard $87,100 $582,100 

3 Portable Generators $5,000 $75,000 

 

  

Packet Page 5



Packet Page 6



Packet Page 7



Packet Page 8



Packet Page 9



Packet Page 10



Packet Page 11



Packet Page 12



Packet Page 13



Packet Page 14



Packet Page 15



Packet Page 16



Packet Page 17



Packet Page 18



Packet Page 19



Packet Page 20



Packet Page 21



Packet Page 22



Packet Page 23



Packet Page 24



Packet Page 25



Packet Page 26



Packet Page 27



Packet Page 28



Packet Page 29



Packet Page 30



Packet Page 31



Packet Page 32



Packet Page 33



Packet Page 34



Packet Page 35



Packet Page 36



Packet Page 37



Packet Page 38



Packet Page 39



Packet Page 40



Packet Page 41



Packet Page 42



Packet Page 43



Packet Page 44



Packet Page 45



Packet Page 46



Packet Page 47



Packet Page 48



Packet Page 49



Packet Page 50



Packet Page 51



Packet Page 52



Packet Page 53



Packet Page 54



Packet Page 55



Packet Page 56



Packet Page 57



Packet Page 58



Packet Page 59



Packet Page 60



Packet Page 61



Packet Page 62



Packet Page 63



Packet Page 64



Packet Page 65



Packet Page 66



Packet Page 67



Packet Page 68



Packet Page 69



Packet Page 70



Packet Page 71



Packet Page 72



Packet Page 73



Packet Page 74



Packet Page 75



Packet Page 76



Packet Page 77



Packet Page 78



Packet Page 79



Packet Page 80



Packet Page 81



Packet Page 82



Packet Page 83



Packet Page 84



Packet Page 85



Packet Page 86



Packet Page 87



Packet Page 88



Packet Page 89



Packet Page 90



Packet Page 91



Packet Page 92



Packet Page 93



Packet Page 94



Packet Page 95



Packet Page 96



Packet Page 97



Packet Page 98



Packet Page 99



Packet Page 100



Packet Page 101



Packet Page 102



Packet Page 103



Packet Page 104



Packet Page 105



Packet Page 106



Packet Page 107



Packet Page 108



Packet Page 109



Packet Page 110



Packet Page 111



Packet Page 112



Packet Page 113



Town of Montreat 
Board of Commissioners 

Special Meeting 
January 29, 2016 
Walkup Building 

  

 
Board members present

Mayor Pro Tem Kitty Fouche 
: Mayor Tim Helms 

Commissioner Bill Gilliland 
Commissioner Mary Standaert  
Commissioner Ann Vinson 
 

Board members absent
 

: Commissioner Kent Otto 

Others Present:
    Former Commissioner Jack McCaskill 

    Former Commissioner Martha Campbell 

 
Town staff present

 
:  Ron Nalley, Town Administrator 

No members of the public were present.  Mayor Helms called the meeting to order at 11:00 a.m. and held a 
moment of silence. 

 
Agenda Approval 

Commissioner Vinson moved to adopt the meeting agenda as presented.  Commissioner Gilliland seconded 
and the motion carried 4/0.   
 

 
Closed Session – Town Administrator’s Annual Performance Evaluation 

Commissioner Vinson moved to enter into Closed Session in accordance with North Carolina General Statute 
§143-318.11(6) to conduct the Town Administrator’s annual performance evaluation.  Commissioner Gilliland 
seconded and the motion carried 4/0. 
 
Commissioner Vinson moved to return to Open Session.  Commissioner Gilliland seconded and the motion 
carried 4/0.  Upon returning to open session, Mayor Helms thanked Mr. Nalley for his service to the Town.  
Commissioner Vinson then moved to adjust Mr. Nalley’s annual salary to $94,245.  Mayor Pro Tem Fouche 
seconded and the motion carried 4/0. 
 

 
Adjournment 

Commissioner Standaert moved to adjourn the Town Council Meeting. Commissioner Vinson seconded.  The 
motion carried 4/0 and the meeting was adjourned at 11:43 a.m.  
 
 

  

Tim Helms, Mayor   Angie Murphy, Town Clerk 
 

Packet Page 114



Town of Montreat 
Board of Commissioners 

Town Council Agenda Meeting 
February 4, 2016 
Walkup Building 

  

 

Book 14; Page  

Board members present
Mayor Pro Tem Kitty Fouche 

: Mayor Tim Helms 

Commissioner Bill Gilliland 
Commissioner Mary Standaert 
Commissioner Ann Vinson 
Commissioner Kent Otto 

 
Board members absent:
 

 None 

Town staff present
Jack Staggs, Chief of Police 

:  Ron Nalley, Town Administrator 

Steve Freeman, Public Works Director 
David Currie, Building Inspector/Code Administrator 
Angie Murphy, Town Clerk 

     
Approximately 17 members of the public were also present.  Mayor Helms called the meeting to 
order at 7:00 p.m., and led the group in reciting the Pledge of Allegiance and in a moment of 
silence. 

 
Agenda Approval 

Mayor Helms welcomed everyone to the meeting and commended the Public Services 
Department for all of their hard work during the snow storm.  Mayor Pro Tem Fouche also 
recognized Martha Campbell and the Dimmock family for opening their home to the crews for rest 
as they worked long shifts.  Mayor Helms asked if there were any changes to the agenda.  
Commissioner Vinson, at the request of Mr. Nalley, moved to adopt the agenda as amended with 
the Closed Session rescheduled for the Town Council Meeting on February 11th.   Commissioner 
Gilliland seconded and the agenda was approved as amended 5/0. 
 

 
Public Hearings 

The Board will hold two Public Hearings at the beginning of next week’s meeting to receive 
comments on Proposed Revisions to Montreat General Ordinance, Chapter K, Article IV-Hillside 
Development; and Proposed Revisions to Montreat Zoning Ordinance, Article VI-General 
Provisions. 

 
Mayor’s Communications 

Mayor Helms stated that he had no further communications other than reiterating his gratitude to 
the Public Works Department for their efforts during the snow. 

 
 

Packet Page 115



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Agenda Meeting Minutes 

February 4, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page  

 
Consent Agenda Review 

The proposed Consent Agenda will include the following items: 
 
• January 7, 2016 Agenda Meeting  
• January 14, 2016, Town Council Meeting  
• Re-appointment of Phillip Arnold to the Audit Committee for a term of four years to expire on 

January 31, 2020 

• Mr. Nalley provided the Council with an additional document to be added to their Annual 
Board Retreat Packet from KCI with regards to the Texas Road Bridge Project. 

Town Administrator’s Communications 

• Mr. Nalley applauded the Public Works crews for their hard work during the snow storm and 
thanked the Dimmock/Campbell families for their hospitality. 

• Mr. Nalley informed Council that Mr. Bill Hollins has requested that he not be reappointed to 
the Audit Committee therefore another appointment is needed. 

 
Administrative Reports 

The Board will hear administrative reports from the Police Chief, Public Works Director, Finance 
Officer and Building Inspector/Code Administrator during next week’s Town Council meeting.   
 

 
Public Comment – Agenda Items 

Mayor Helms reiterated that this Public Comment period was intended for remarks pertaining to 
items listed on the meeting agenda, including staff reports and communications.   
 
There were no comments from the public at this time. 

 

 
Old Business 

A. Proposed Revisions to Montreat General Ordinance, Chapter K, Article IV-Hillside Development, 
Section II:

 

  Mayor Helms reported that a public hearing on this matter is scheduled for next 
week’s Town Council Meeting.   

 
B.  Proposed Revisions to Montreat Zoning Ordinance Article VI-General Provisions, Section 612-

4-Reasonable Accommodations:   Mayor Helms reported that a public hearing on this matter is 
scheduled for next week’s Town Council meeting.   Commissioner Standaert requested Mr. 

Packet Page 116



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Agenda Meeting Minutes 

February 4, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page  

Currie to invite the Planning & Zoning Committee Members to the meeting to be recognized 
for all their hard work. 

 

 
New Business 

A.  Lookout Road Area-Preliminary Utility Service Plan:

 

  In April 2015, the Board of Commissioners 
agreed to complete a utility service plan for the Oklahoma Road and Lookout Road area.  At 
that time, McGill Associates submitted a proposal in the amount of $8,500 for conceptual 
planning and budget estimating to extend public utilities and street improvements to this area.  
It is anticipated that these extensions would be undertaken as phased public assessment 
projects, similar to those in the Upper Kentucky Road area.  Town Ordinances currently allow 
for three options when utility extensions are requested:  (1)  petitioners can pay for their own 
improvements, (2) a phased assessment approach, which mean that the petitioners who will 
get direct benefit from the improvements will pay for the improvements, or (3)  petitioners can 
wait for the Town to pay for the improvements through the Capital Improvements Plan.  The 
utility service plan indicates the best routes for water, sewer and roads in this area of the 
Town.  Commissioner Standaert emphasized the importance of giving the public ample 
opportunity to comment on this plan. 

B. 2016-2021 Capital Improvements Plan:

 

  Following next week’s presentation, the Board will be 
asked to call for a Public Hearing to hear comments on this matter during the March 10, 2016 
Town Council Meeting. 

C. Street Name Request-Covenant Lane:

 

  Montreat has had a street naming process in place for 
many years with names being historically taken from Synods and Presbyteries.  Buncombe 
County passed an Ordinance that states if a street name is already in use somewhere else in 
the County that it will not be allowed as a new street name.  For example, last year 
Whitewater Cove Road and New Hope Lane were chosen as new street names in Montreat; 
while Whitewater Cove Road was accepted, New Hope Lane already existed elsewhere in the 
County and was rejected.  The Eckard family, who owns the majority of the lots along this 
street, had originally suggested four names:  New Hope Lane; Grace Lane; Living Waters Way 
and Covenant Lane.  Unfortunately, New Hope Lane, Grace Lane, and Living Waters Way were 
all rejected by Buncombe County.  Because Covenant Lane is the last of their original request it 
is being brought before the Board for their consideration. 

 
Public Comment-Other Topics 

Mayor Helms reiterated that this Public Comment period was intended for remarks pertaining to 
public business items not listed on the meeting agenda, including any reports or communications 
from other community entities.     
 
Mrs. Susanne McCaskill of 114 John Knox Road asked the Council to consider turning the issue of 

Packet Page 117



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Agenda Meeting Minutes 

February 4, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page  

Town Hall over to the courts to make unbiased rulings for the citizens of Montreat. 
 
Mr. Wade Burns of 232 North Carolina Terrace would like for the Council to consider the idea that 
property owners on Lookout Road have been paying taxes for the past thirty years which adds up 
to a large amount of money that could be pro-rated to go towards their assessment fees.    
 

 
Commissioner Communications 

There were no Commissioner Communications at this time. 
 

 
Upcoming Meeting Dates 

Mayor Helms reviewed the following list of upcoming meeting dates and deadlines next week.   
 

 
Annual Board Retreat February 8, 2016, 9:00 a.m. 

Montreat College-Black Mountain Campus-The 
Manor House 

 

 
Montreat Tree Board February 23, 2016 3:00 p.m. 

Town Services Office 
 

 
Agenda Items Due: February 26, 2016 by 5:00 p.m. 

Town Services Office 
 

 
Montreat Landcare March 2, 2016, 9:00 a.m. 

Kirk Allen Building 
Swannanoa Room 

 
March 3, 2016, 7:00 p.m. March Agenda Meeting: 

Walkup Building 
 

March 10, 2016, 7:00 p.m. March Town Council Meeting: 
Walkup Building 

 
 

 
Closed Session 

The Closed Session has been rescheduled for next week’s Town Council Meeting. 
 

 
 
 

Packet Page 118



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Agenda Meeting Minutes 

February 4, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page  

 
Adjournment 

There being no further business, Commissioner Vinson moved to adjourn the Agenda Meeting. 
Commissioner Gilliland seconded and the motion carried 5/0.  The meeting was adjourned at 7:26 
p.m.  
 
 
 
   

Tim Helms, Mayor   Angie Murphy, Town Clerk 

 

Packet Page 119



Town of Montreat 
Board of Commissioners 

Annual Board Retreat 
February 8, 2016 

Montreat College-Black Mountain Campus-The Manor House 
 

  

 

Book 14; Page  

Board members present
Mayor Pro Tem Kitty Fouche 

: Mayor Tim Helms 

Commissioner Ann Vinson 
Commissioner Kent Otto 
Commissioner Bill Gilliland  
Commissioner Mary Standaert 

 
Town staff present

Angie Murphy, Town Clerk 
:  Ron Nalley, Town Administrator 

Steve Freeman, Public Works Director 
Barry Creasman, Senior Water Operator 
Stefan Stackhouse, Finance Officer 
David Currie/Building Inspector/Code Administrator 
Jack Staggs, Chief of Police  

     
Approximately ten members of the public were in attendance throughout the day.  Mayor Helms 
called the meeting to order at 9:08 a.m. and gave the invocation. 
 

 
Agenda Approval 

Mayor Helms suggested amending the agenda to move Item 8: Update on Current 
Projects/Services/Issues to the first item to be discussed after the Council returned from lunch 
with the remaining items falling back into place.  Commissioner Vinson moved to adopt the 
meeting agenda as amended.  Commissioner Otto seconded and the motion carried 5/0.   
 

 
Board of Commissioners’ Areas of Responsibility/Community Group Representation 

Board member Areas of Responsibility, Community Group Liaison and Audit Committee 
appointments as follows: 
 

Commissioner of Communications:  

Areas of Responsibility 

Commissioner Fouche  

Commissioner of Environment:  Commissioner Vinson  

Commissioner of Finance:  Commissioner Otto  

Commissioner of Planning, Zoning and Inspections:  Commissioner Standaert  

Commissioner of Public Safety:  Commissioner Standaert  

Packet Page 120



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Annual Board Retreat Minutes 

February 8, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page  

Commissioner of Public Works:  Commissioner Gilliland  

Commissioner of Sanitation:  Commissioner Gilliland  

French Broad River Metropolitan Planning 
Organization (MPO) and Transportation Advisory 
Committee (TAC):  

Community Group Liaisons 

Mayor Helms  

Land-of-Sky Regional Council:  Mayor Helms  
Commissioner Gilliland, Alternate  

Montreat Cottagers Association Board:  Commissioner Standaert  

Montreat Cottagers Wilderness and Open Space 
Committee:  

Commissioner Vinson  

Montreat Landcare Committee:  Commissioner Vinson  

MRA Wilderness Committee:  Unassigned at this time  

Open Space Conservation Committee:  Commissioner Vinson  

Presbyterian Heritage Center:  Commissioner Fouche  
 

Commissioner Gilliland 

Audit Committee Appointments 

Commissioner Standaert 

Commissioner Vinson, Chair 
 

Commissioner Vinson mentioned that the Mountain Retreat Association (MRA) had never invited 
the Town of Montreat MRA Wilderness Committee representative to meetings in the past.  
Commissioner Standaert expressed her thoughts that our representation should be included in the 
meetings.  Mayor Helms is going to speak with the Conference Center and then report back to the 
Council on who will take the open committee seat. 

 

 
Review of Previously Adopted Goals and Objectives: Fiscal Year 2015-2016 

Mr. Nalley briefly reviewed for Council the status of the 49 departmental goals and objectives 
established for the current fiscal year.  Commissioner Fouche asked for further explanation about 
the Greenways and Mr. Nalley referred to a section in the packet that explained the purpose and 
future projects of the Pedestrian, Bicycle and Greenways Master Plan.  Mr. Nalley also elaborated 
on the current project of connecting Lookout Road to Lake Susan Dam which is scheduled for 
consideration in the spring.  In 2012 monies had been set aside for this project, but disagreements 
with the MRA over right of way led to an additional $20,000 in attorney fees which resulted in the 
removal of this section from the project.   
 

Packet Page 121



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Annual Board Retreat Minutes 

February 8, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page  

 
Board of Commissioners Rules of Procedure Review 

Commissioner Standaert expressed the need for updating the Rules of Procedure to more closely 
follow the Board’s Order of Business for meetings and would like for Mr. Nalley and the Town 
Clerk to complete a more thorough review of the Rules for possible changes.  Commissioner 
Standaert also mentioned that she’s received a lot of emails from the community about the three 
minute limit during the Public Comments period.  Mayor Pro Tem Fouche felt that the timer 
countdown on the screen was intimidating but that the three minute limit was adequate.  The 
Council then had a general discussion about the need for an Agenda Meeting, as well as adding a 
thirty minute public comment time prior to the Agenda Meeting for the community to discuss 
topics and concerns with the Board.  The Board decided that beginning at the March Agenda 
Meeting a Public Forum tentatively called “Conversations with Commissioners” will be added from 
6:30 p.m. until 7:00 p.m. with the Agenda meeting starting at the regular time.  The 
Commissioners will be addressed as a Council-At-Large not singling out a specific Council Member.  
The three minute time limit will still be in effect but written remarks will be accepted.  The Board 
will reevaluate this change in September to determine the usefulness of the public forum.   
 

 
Finance 

2016-2021 Capital Improvements Plan

 

: The 2016-2021 Capital Improvements Plan (CIP) is 
pending until Mr. Nalley receives further direction from the Council during the Board Retreat.  It is 
important for staff to know where the Council’s priorities are in order to appropriately allocate 
funds during the CIP and Budget process. 

2016-2017 Annual Budget Highlights

 

:  Mr. Stackhouse presented and reviewed a budget planning 
memorandum containing preliminary General Fund revenue and expenditure projections for the 
coming fiscal year.  He noted there were limited options for new revenue sources, aside from 
soliciting additional Payment in Lieu of Taxes (PILOT) donations from community non-profit 
entities.  Community Service Fees from the Montreat Conference Center remain estimated at 
$50,000.   

General Fund expenditure projections for the upcoming budget preparation cycle include capital 
project funding, fuel and utility costs, payroll expenses and likely increases in employee health 
insurance rates. Department heads will be asked to carefully evaluate current programs and 
proposed expenditures to identify cost saving opportunities.  The CIP is inherently one of the most 
discretionary areas of our budget.  While this section of the budget is planned on a multi-year 
basis, the Board does have the flexibility to downsize, defer, or even delete planned projects.  
Payroll and Capital Outlays combined account for approximately 90% of our General Fund.  This 
leaves a very limited scope to save much money, especially given that many of these expenditures 
are essential and can not be cut.  Only in the capital budget could any substantial expenditure 
reduction be achieved. 
 

Packet Page 122



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Annual Board Retreat Minutes 

February 8, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page  

Current fiscal year Water Fund expenditures are budgeted at $327,000.  The Town last increased 
its water billing rates in 2012 to $4.83 per thousand gallons of usage for all customers. Monthly 
access fees remain at $14.00 for 3/4 inch lines, $90.00 for 1” lines, and $220.00 for 2” lines.  Since 
it has been several years since the Town has made any changes to this fee structure, Staff feels 
that it is time to revisit it.  The Town has received letters from the Local Government Commission 
for two years in a row expressing concern about the adequacy of the rate structure and long-term 
fiscal sustainability.  Staff has asked the North Carolina Rural Water Association to review our rate 
structure in light of our financial position and usage patterns.  The NC Rural Water Association is 
recommending an overall rate increase of 2.5%.  Given that the Metropolitan Sewerage District 
has followed a policy of routinely increasing their rates by 2% annually and the Town has had no 
increases for the past four years, this is a very modest increase.  Three options were presented to 
the Board with regards to water rates.  In response to a question from Mayor Helms, Mr. Nalley 
offered his opinions on the three options presented.  After much discussion, the consensus of the 
Board was to increase rates and access fees by 2.5% across the board while making sure to 
educate the Town on the need for the increase. 
 
Stormwater Utility Update

 

:  Staff has identified the need to engage professional services to 
evaluate the effectiveness of our current stormwater treatment system, to determine where 
corrections must be made, and to project the associated costs; also hard data is needed to 
establish priorities in adequately financing future stormwater management and to substantiate 
the Town’s base fees.  In 2014, staff received notification by a state engineer with the NC 
Floodplain Mapping Program that any modifications to existing stormwater infrastructure must be 
reviewed and bear the seal of a North Carolina engineer with expertise in the area of stormwater 
systems.  It has already been established through prior discussion and direction from the Board 
that a stormwater utility-funded by a tiered approach to the stormwater fee-is the most 
appropriate mechanism to finance administration of the program.  At this time, staff is looking to 
the Board for direction on whether to re-issue the Request For Qualification and select a 
consultant to provide the necessary data and background information we need to proceed with 
the program.  Mr. Nalley reminded the Board that revenue from the Powell Bill will have to be 
dedicated to repaving roads wherein the past money from the Powell Bill has been used for street 
signs and storm drainage.  Following discussion, the Board decided that the Stormwater Utility Fee 
is not something that they wish to pursue this year.   

 
Finance 

Comprehensive Plan Review:  The Town of Montreat’s Comprehensive Plan serves as a strategic 
policy guide for future development, infrastructure and service decisions over a 15 to 20 year 
period.  The Plan was originally adopted in April 2008, and includes 97 long-and short-term goals 
and strategies for addressing a number of key community desires and issues identified during the 
course of its development, including 45 short-term goals, 42 mid-term goals and ten long-term 
goals.  To date, the Town has completed or significantly completed 69 goals or approximately 71% 
of the total number contained in the Plan.  An additional 3% are in progress.  Many of the 

Packet Page 123



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Annual Board Retreat Minutes 

February 8, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page  

remaining 25 goals have come under consideration by the Board, but have not moved forward due 
to unfavorable legislative changes, lack of public support, and other similar reasons.  Mr. Nalley 
briefly reviewed an updated implementation matrix detailing the current status of each of the 
recommended short-, mid-, and long-term goals and strategies.  The matrix also provided a brief 
status explanation for those goals that have achieved limited progress. 
 
The Comprehensive Plan is intended to be reviewed and updated every five years, and 
LandDesign, the professional consulting firm that assisted with the development of the 2008 
Comprehensive Plan has submitted an initial cost estimate of approximately $67,000 to update the 
Plan.  This amount is subject to further amendments and reductions based on the final scope of 
work.  After discussion, the Board decided to check with the N.C. League of Municipalities to 
determine if they may be able to assist the Town with updating the Comprehensive Plan. 
 

 
Services and Infrastructure 

Disaster/Emergency Planning

 

:  The Police Department would like to emphasize the importance of 
the Incident Command System (ICS).  This system is the backbone of all disaster and emergency 
planning for the Town.  Without following the guidelines of this system and properly documenting 
the event, the Town may not be reimbursed for any related losses.  ICS courses are available to all 
administrative staff and can be taken online at FEMA.gov.  It is mandatory that each Board 
member take the 100, 200 and 700 courses.  Chief Staggs touched briefly on the Police 
Department and Public Safety concerns related to Texas Road Bridge and feels that having an 
additional route available would allow for greater flexibility and improved access for all 
emergencies.  Major improvements are still needed in the Town Services Building that houses the 
Police Department.  Chief Staggs indicated that there is a serious need to convert office space into 
a secured and alarmed evidence room.   

2015 Year-End Police Activity Report

 

:  Chief Staggs then reviewed his year-end departmental 
activity for 2015.  He explained the types of services and assistance provided to Montreat College 
and the Montreat Conference Center, as well as how those calls are categorized and represented 
on monthly and year-end departmental activity reports.  The residential spot checks are a 
contributing factor to the department’s success in 2015.   

Water, Sewer and Street Standards

 

:  Mr. Freeman presented and reviewed current maps and 
tables indicating the age and condition of the Town’s water lines and paved roadways. These 
materials are updated annually and used to prepare capital project recommendations for the 
Capital Improvements Plan and annual Budget.  Mr. Freeman discussed the service requirements 
of the Water Department, the equipment rotation plan, and the need for a storage facility. 

Zoning & Inspections Department:  Mr. Currie gave a brief overview of the scope of his duties with 
the Town.  Mr. Currie reviews site plans, surveys and other specifications related to proposed 
development projects for conformity with the Montreat Ordinances and other requirements and 

Packet Page 124



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Annual Board Retreat Minutes 

February 8, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page  

then monitors the construction process to ensure compliance will all pertinent regulatory codes. 
 
NPDES Stormwater Permit Requirements

 

:  Mr. Currie provided copies of the Town’s 2015 Annual 
Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) permit report, which was submitted to the North 
Carolina Department of Environment and Natural Resources/Division of Water Quality 
(NCDENR/DWQ) on December 28, 2015.  The MS4 permit allows Montreat to discharge 
stormwater into surface waters of the state within its jurisdiction, and must be renewed every five 
years.  In each permit report, the Town is asked to provide a list of measureable goals 
accomplished during the calendar year.  Both Mr. Currie and Public Works Department staff 
members receive annual continuing education training in various stormwater control-related 
topics as part of the MS4 permit requirements.  Mr. Currie also maintains Stormwater Best 
Management Practices (BMP) Reviewer Certification. 

Green Fleet Policy Annual Report

 

:  Mr. Stackhouse presented and reviewed the 2015 Green Fleet 
Report, which indicated the make, model, estimated carbon dioxide emissions, fuel type, average 
fuel economy and fuel costs for each of the Town’s vehicles. 

 
Recess 

Mayor Helms recessed for lunch at 12:17 p.m. and then reconvened the meeting at 12:48 p.m. 
 

 
Update on Current Projects/Services/Issues 

 
Texas Road Bridge Replacement:

 

  Mr. Nalley reviewed the project background and reviewed 
original construction replacement Options B through E on the map which he would be discussing 
in further detail.  Mr. Nalley reiterated that Town Staff supports the construction of a new bridge 
along Texas Road.  Mr. Nalley reviewed a letter from KCI dated February 4, 2016 on available 
options for the replacement of Texas Road Bridge.   After a lengthy discussion with staff about the 
different bridge locations, new options and flood ordinance requirements, it was decided by the 
Council that KCI should be invited back to a Town Meeting to present the new information to the 
Board and public.    

Town Hall/Public Works Facility:  Mr. Nalley reviewed the project background and emphasized that 
Town Staff needed direction from the Board on how they see the project moving forward.  
Commissioner Vinson feels strongly that the Town of Montreat needs a Town Hall specifically for 
the Police Department and Administration staff.  Commissioner Gilliland feels that the Town needs 
office and maintenance space, but he cannot support the Florida Terrace location.  Commissioner 
Standaert  expressed support for a Town Hall facility.  Mayor Pro Tem Fouche feels that we need a 
Town Hall but it does not need to be on Florida Terrace and that a decision needs to be made 
quickly that it will not be built at that location.  Commissioner Otto is in agreement that there 
needs to be some changes but does not support the Florida Terrace location. 

Packet Page 125



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Annual Board Retreat Minutes 

February 8, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page  

 
Board Members feel that some reinvestigation of other suitable locations is necessary.  Mayor 
Helms posed the following question to the Council:  “If you envisioned a Town Hall where do you 
see it being built in the community?”  Mayor Pro Tem Fouche envisions the property outside the 
Gate and feels that this needs to be further explored.  Commissioner Vinson feels that the facility 
should be located within the Town limits and mentioned the property located beside the Post 
Office.  Commissioner Standaert expressed the need for the Board to make a statement sooner 
rather than later that the Town Hall will not be built on Florida Terrace.  Commissioner Standaert 
also feels that the Billy Graham Evangelistic Association should be approached again to see if they 
are willing to sell their property but also expressed interest in the Post Office and Collegiate Circle 
sites and the Horton property.  Mr. Nalley will gather the information requested  on the 
mentioned properties and report back to the Board at a later time.   
 

 
Recess 

The Mayor called for a short break at 2:24 p.m.  The meeting resumed at 2:33 p.m. 
 
Sanitation:

 

  In an effort to address concerns, staff considered several alternative service delivery 
methods and in September, narrowed them down to the two most feasible options as requested 
by the Board.   

Alternative Two:  Continue collection services in the same manner, however the compactor 
site would be closed permanently to the public.  While this alternative may be unpopular 
with some residents who now use the site as a convenience center instead of using 
curbside service, this will ensure that taxpayer money is appropriately spent on true service 
delivery while eliminating the safety and liability concerns of the site. 
 
Alternative Three:  Eliminate curbside collection and develop a safe and efficient 
convenience center for the disposal of household garbage and recyclables.  Under this 
alternative, the Town would continue to offer back door service, bulk collections and 
special pickups for a fee.  The collection center would be staffed and a system developed 
through either a straight fee, special bag or tag system that allows only residents and 
visitors to Montreat to use the center. 

 
Since your September Sanitation Meeting, staff has researched various ways to improve upon 
alternatives two and three.  However, most all statements made during the summer season about 
the current service and “temporary” service changes put in place during that time have held true. 

• The “temporary” service plan for the compactor site is having its desired effect in the 
reduction of municipal solid waste, illegal dumping and unauthorized use. 

• The “temporary” service plan has resolved staff’s concern with the safety and liability of 
the site to the general public as well as our own employees. 

• The personnel cost to operate the site exceeds the revenue generated and the savings 

Packet Page 126



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Annual Board Retreat Minutes 

February 8, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page  

realized during the last six months of operation. 
• Usage at the compactor site has significantly declined after the first week in August. 
• The site is serving very few people when compared to the total number of residents and 

visitors to the Montreat community. 
• Following a six month review, the information and data collected at the site supports the 

closing of the compactor site to the general public, encouraging the use of curbside 
collection services. 

 
In late September, a meeting was held with the Montreat Conference Center and Montreat 
College to explore what opportunities might exist in developing a mutually beneficial community-
wide sanitation program.  While each organization learned a great deal about each other’s service 
needs and costs, staff also discovered that the timing of contract renewals, special sanitation 
service requirements, and service delivery methods were not conducive to a community-wide 
sanitation program at this time.  One area that has the potential for collaboration among the main 
entities, is the development of a community recycling program.  Due to the timing however, this 
program should be discussed for possible implementation over a five year timeframe rather than 
something more immediate. 
 
In response to the information and data gathered, staff now recommends the following: 

1. Continue sanitation collection services in the same manner. 
2. Replace the existing sanitation truck as soon as possible. 
3. Close the compactor site permanently to the public, including Saturday service. 
4. Initiate an imprinted bag system.  The cost of the bags will be recovered through their sale. 
5. Develop a fenced handling area for the imprinted bags, opened by any staff member upon 

request. 
6. Research requiring bear-proof containers for high occupancy dwellings. 
7. Increase education efforts for container rules, bear-proof container requirements and 

special collections services. 
 

Following discussion, it was the consensus of the Board to follow Staff recommendations with 
regards to the Sanitation Services Issue.  Commissioner Otto agreed to meet with Mr. Richard 
DuBose to see if the Conference Center may be willing to place a truck at the Gate for Saturday 
pick-up.  Mr. Nalley advised that this would not be an immediate change but that Town Staff 
hoped to have things in place prior to the start of the summer Conference season. 
 

 
Environment and Recreation 

Landcare

 

: Mr. Nalley referred to the Memorandum of Understanding and suggested that the new 
Board members become familiar with this unique organization in the Town of Montreat.   

Open Space Conservation Plan:  Mr. Nalley referred to the Open Space Conservation Plans purpose 
and vision statement and encouraged Board members to review the plan and if there were 

Packet Page 127



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Annual Board Retreat Minutes 

February 8, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page  

questions to please contact him or Commissioner Vinson. 
 
Pedestrian, Bicycle and Greenways Master Plan

 

:  The next project recommended for completion in 
the Town’s Pedestrian, Bicycle and Greenways Master Plan is a sidewalk connection along 
Assembly Drive between Lookout Road and the Lake Susan Dam area.  This project is scheduled for 
completion during the Towns 2016-2017 Fiscal Year, but will be subject to funding availability. 

Native Plant Garden Park Plan

 

: Phase II of the Native Plant Garden Park Plan has been delayed due 
to funding availability and continued land acquisition discussions with the Mountain Retreat 
Association.  A copy of this Site Plan is included in the Retreat Packet for the Boards use.  

Gate Lot Landscaping Plan

 

: A copy of the Gate Lot Plan is also included in the Retreat Packet.  The 
plan calls for the development of a flagstone patio, additional parking, improved landscaping and a 
woodland garden.  This project is also awaiting funding availability.   

 
Annexation/Extra-Territorial Jurisdiction Discussion 

The plats establishing lots in much of Montreat were first recorded in the late 1800’s and 
resurveyed in 1935. At the time, Buncombe County zoning and subdivision ordinances were not in 
place, so the lot sizes are quite small.  Given current environmental health service requirements, it 
is possible that some lot owners may not be able to obtain well and septic permits if their 
neighbors already have wells or septic systems in place.   Following a quick discussion on 
Montreat’s Extra-Territorial Jurisdiction and the State’s requirements, the Board requested that 
Mr. Nalley reagenda this discussion for them later in the year.   
 
   

 
Personnel and Employee Benefits 

Mr. Nalley presented a summary of the current salary grades and ranges, as well as employee 
health insurance and other benefits offered by the Town.  
 

 
Communication Efforts 

 
Open Forum Discussion

 

:  The Board agreed to maintain the thirty minutes prior to the monthly 
Agenda Meeting as a way of getting more information out to the public and encouraging open 
dialogue with the Board. 

 
2016-2017 Goals and Objectives 

After discussion, the Board set the following departmental goals for the upcoming fiscal year: 
 

Packet Page 128



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Annual Board Retreat Minutes 

February 8, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page  

Governing Body 
 

• Update the 2008 Comprehensive Plan. 

• Investigate opportunities for a Town Hall. 

• Await a petition for voluntary annexation of the Upper Greybeard Trail area. 

• Conduct at least one educational Town Hall meeting focused on Texas Road Bridge. 

• Pursue grant funding to complete landscaping improvements to the Gate Lot.   

• Complete each applicable section of ICS training for Board Members. 

• Update the Board of Commissioner’s Rules of Procedure. 

 

Administration and Finance 

 

• Update and prepare proposals for implementation of an online “cloud based” municipal 
accounting package for 2018. 

• Research the policy requirements and potential use of purchasing cards for selected 
employees. 

• Seek opportunities to further develop public relations and public information efforts. 

• Begin the training and educational requirements of fulfilling the two year Municipal Clerk 
Certification. 

• Manage and assist with the records retention and disposition scheduling of files for all 
departments. 

• Research records management software option for cost and feasibility. 

• Develop and distribute a Request for Qualifications for auditing services. 

 

 
Police 
 

• Provide a minimum of two additional opportunities for officer training. 

• Implement future storage requirement solutions regarding the processing of evidentiary 
items and sensitive material. 

• Further steps in recruitment in effort to bolster Reserve Force roster. 

• Digitize police related documentation and forms. 

Packet Page 129



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Annual Board Retreat Minutes 

February 8, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page  

 
 
Planning and Inspections Department 
 

• Continue training in ArcGIS software utilization as offerings are available in our area. 

• Coordinate in-house training of public works staff in utilization of Trimble GPS/ArcPad field 
location hardware/software, accurately locating valves, water meters and any remaining 
features for representation within the GIS system. 

• Assist department heads with beginning to collaborate on interdepartmental projects using 
ArcGIS Online tools. 

• Map the locations of all public and privately owned Stormwater Control Measures (SCM’s) 
using GPS and incorporate these into the Town’s map system. 

 

Public Works 
 
• Assist in the completion of the Native Plant Garden project, pending available funding and 

property acquisition.    

• Complete inspections of Town-owned stormwater features.   

• Complete and submit the annual Water Supply Plan and Solid Waste Report.   

• Continue the tree removal and replacement program.   

• In conjunction with the Montreat Tree Board, develop a Town Tree Plan and Tree and Shrub 
Standards Specification and Detail Manual. 

 
Streets/Powell Bill  
 

• Pursue completion of the Texas Road Bridge replacement project.   

• Pursue completion of the Texas Road resurfacing and storm drainage project.   

• Perform road resurfacing on smaller portions of streets.   

• Replace 30 stop signs with “retro-reflectivity signs” in compliance with new Federal and 
State program. 

• Install or upgrade two storm water improvement projects.   
 
Sanitation  
 

• Distribute an updated public education sanitation and recycling services brochure. 

Packet Page 130



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Annual Board Retreat Minutes 

February 8, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page  

• Purchase new sanitation truck in accordance with Capital Improvement Plan. 

• Continue Sanitation Collection Services in the same manner and initiate an imprinted bag 
system. 

• Research requiring bear-proof containers for high-occupancy dwellings. 

• Increase education efforts for container rules, bear-proof container requirements and 
special collection services. 

 
Environment & Recreation 
 

• Promote and support the Tree City USA, Open Space Conservation and Montreat Landcare 
program initiatives.   

• Complete Phase II of the Native Plant Garden project, pending available funding and 
property acquisition.   

• Promote public education and involvement with Open Space Conservation, Landcare and 
other environmental conservation initiatives and projects.   

• Initiate planning and engineering for the next phase of the Greenways/Trails Master Plan.   
 
Water 
 

• Replace approximately fifteen (15) air valves within the water system.  

• Replace roofs on at least two Well buildings. 

• Update and digitize mapping of all fire hydrants.   

• Automate monthly well sheets for meeting reporting requirements.     

 
 
These goals and objectives will be prepared as a separate document for formal adoption at a later 
date. 

 

 
Adjournment 

There being no further business, Commissioner Vinson moved to adjourn the Board Retreat 
meeting.  Commissioner Gilliland seconded and the motion carried 5/0.  The meeting was 
adjourned at 3:59 p.m. 
 
 

   

Packet Page 131



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Annual Board Retreat Minutes 

February 8, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page  

Tim Helms, Mayor  Angie Murphy, Town Clerk 

 

Packet Page 132



Town of Montreat 
Board of Commissioners 

Town Council Meeting 
February 11, 2016 
Walkup Building 

 

Book 14; Page 

 
Board members present

Mayor Pro Tem Kitty Fouche 
: Mayor Tim Helms 

Commissioner Mary Standaert 
Commissioner Ann Vinson 
Commissioner Bill Gilliland 
Commissioner Kent Otto 
 

Board members absent:
 

 None 

Town staff present
Stefan Stackhouse, Finance Officer & Deputy Town Clerk 

:  Ron Nalley, Town Administrator 

Steve Freeman, Public Works Director 
Barry Creasman, Senior Water Operator 
Chief Jack Staggs, Chief of Police 
Angie Murphy, Town Clerk 
David Currie, Code Administrator/Building Inspector 

     
Approximately 32 members of the public were also present.  Mayor Helms called the meeting 
to order at 7:00 p.m., led the group in reciting the Pledge of Allegiance, and held a moment of 
silence.   

 
Agenda Approval 

Mayor Helms advised the Council that the Minutes in this evening’s packet were incorrect and 
to refer to the copy of the Minutes found in the packet for February 4th, in which a section of 
the minutes were revised at the Council’s request.  Commissioner Standaert moved to adopt 
the agenda as presented.  Commissioner Vinson seconded and the motion carried 5/0. 
 

Public Hearings 

 

Proposed Revisions to Montreat General Ordinance, Chapter K, Article IV-Hillside 
Development 

Mayor Helms opened the public hearing for comments and requested that Mr. Currie give a 
summary of the proposed revisions.  Mr. Currie stated that at the 2015 Annual Board Retreat, 
the Board asked staff to have the Planning and Zoning Commission review the required 
setbacks listed for various zoning districts.  During development of the Comprehensive Plan in 
2006-2007, there was mention of modifying building setbacks in the front and rear yards based 
upon steeply-sloping conditions of some lots, as well as the suggestion of increasing front yard 
setbacks for properties under development within the Assembly Drive Corridor to maintain 
visual consistency.  In keeping with the guidance of the Comprehensive Plan, the Hillside 
Development Ordinance does include provisions for administratively reducing the front yard 

Packet Page 133



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Meeting Minutes 

February 11, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page 

setback of smaller lots within steeply sloping areas by as much as 50% for the associated zoning 
district.  At their November meeting, the Planning & Zoning Committee reviewed various 
setback provisions in the developmental ordinances and submitted the recommendation 
presented tonight. 
 
Mr. Wade Burns, 232 North Carolina Terrace, stated that the limits on impervious and 
disturbed areas in the Hillside Development Ordinance may cause a loss of practical use of the 
property.  While Mr. Burns feels that the proposed revision is a good step, he feels that the 
Ordinance needs to be evaluated to create a fairer environment for property owners.  There 
being no further public comments, Mayor Helms closed the public hearing. 
 

 
Proposed Revisions to Montreat Zoning Ordinance, Article VI-General Provisions 

Mayor Helms opened the public hearing for comments and requested that Mr. Currie give a 
summary of the proposed revisions.  Mr. Currie stated that the Federal Fair Housing Act 
requires that municipalities make reasonable accommodations in their development and 
zoning codes to provide persons with disabilities the option of using their properties in the 
same way as people with non-disabilities.  The Montreat Zoning Ordinance does provide some 
accommodation that allows persons with disabilities to request modification of the zoning 
setback(s), enabling construction of accessibility features.  This change occurred in 2013 in 
response to a renewed awareness of specific requirements under the Federal Fair Housing Act 
(FFHA).  Earlier this year, a case came before the Board of Adjustment that questioned whether 
the Town had gone far enough.  A property owner requested a variance to allow additional 
square footage to an existing bathroom for increased accessibility.  After reviewing the 
variance request and other case law for similar situations, staff decided that a variance 
procedure and the associated findings is not well-suited to consider modifying provisions of the 
zoning ordinance under the FFHA.  It is Staff’s belief that a Conditional Use approval process or 
a similar approach better addresses the need to provide reasonable accommodation, since a 
variance is tied to particular physical aspects of the property irrespective of the applicant’s 
condition.  
 
There being no public comments, Mayor Helms closed the public hearing. 
 

 
Mayor’s Communications 

• Mayor Helms stated that beginning in March a public forum will begin at 6:30 p.m. in 
which the public is encouraged to ask the Board any questions they may have.  This public 
forum will be held on the first Thursday of every month with the Agenda Meeting 
following at 7:00 p.m.  The question and response session is a way to keep the lines of 
communication open between the Board and the public.  

•  Mayor Helms announced that he issued a Proclamation in support of the 2016 Women in 
Construction Week which occurs annually during the second week of March. 

Packet Page 134



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Meeting Minutes 

February 11, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page 

• Mayor Helms read a letter from the President of the Arbor Day Foundation announcing 
that  Montreat had earned the recognition of a 2015 Tree City USA.  Mayor Helms 
expressed his gratitude to those instrumental in helping Montreat attain this certification 
and said that there will be a more formal recognition at the April Town Council Meeting. 

• Mayor Helms informed those in attendance that at the March 3rd public forum the topic to 
be discussed will be to revisit options pertaining to the Texas Road Bridge Project.  KCI 
Engineering will be in attendance to make a presentation on the project options. 

• Mayor Helms expressed his gratitude to the Public Works Department for their efforts 
during the snow storm. 

 

 
Consent Agenda Review 

With the adoption of the Consent Agenda, the Board approved the following items: 
• January 7, 2016 Agenda Meeting Minutes 
• January 14, 2016 Town Council Meeting Minutes as amended 
• Re-appointed Philip Arnold to the Audit Committee for a term of four years to expire on 

January 31, 2020 
 

 
Town Administrator’s Communications 

• Mr. Nalley reminded the public that there is another open seat on the Audit Committee and 
applications can be dropped off at the Town Services Building. 

• Mr. Nalley expressed his appreciation to the Public Works and Police Departments during 
the snow storm and thanked the Dimmock/Campbell families for their hospitality. 

• Mr. Nalley thanked the group who provided Town Employees with the Valentine’s Day 
meal. 

• Mr. Nalley thanked the Council for their work at the Annual Board Retreat. 
 

 
Administrative Reports 

Police:

 

  Chief Staggs reviewed and presented the January 2016 monthly departmental activity 
report.  Chief Staggs expressed his gratitude to the Public Works Department for all of their 
assistance during the snow storm. The Department assisted with seventeen rescues and 
escorts and assisted with fallen trees and road closures.   The Police Department received 
several letters of gratitude from people in the community. 

Public Works Director:
• Mr. Freeman reported that an inch of snow is needed on the ground before plowing 

becomes effective.  The Department’s first priority is to get one lane open to give 
emergency personnel access to all homes.   Following that, they go back and work on 
opening another lane.   The crews monitor police and fire radios in case an ambulance or 
fire truck requires access.  There is a limited amount of sand and only one sander, so 

   

Packet Page 135



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Meeting Minutes 

February 11, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page 

sanding is reserved for steeper roads, intersections and bridges.  Salt is only used sparingly 
because of its effect on the natural environment.   Public Work Crews worked twelve hour 
shifts, laid down 24 tons of sand and put in over 175 hours in overtime during the weekend 
event. 

• Montreat College contacted Mr. Freeman and Mr. Currie about a wet weather spring on 
Missouri Road.  A contractor, who had previously done work for the College in that area, 
was asked to dig back into the area and it was discovered that a drain system had been cut 
which was causing the problem.  The drain was repaired and has resolved the issue. 

 
Finance Officer:
 

  Mr. Stackhouse presented and reviewed the following monthly reports: 

• December 2015 Financial Summary Report; 
• Final December 2015 Detailed Financial Statement; 
• Preliminary January 2016 Detailed Financial Statement; 
• January 31, 2016 Cash and investment Earnings Report 
 
Building Inspector/Code Administrator:

 

  Mr. Currie presented and reviewed his January 2016 
zoning and inspections activity report. 

Public Comments
 

  

Mayor Helms reiterated that this Public Comment period was intended for remarks pertaining 
to items listed on the meeting agenda, including staff reports and communications. 
 
There were no comments from the public at this time. 
 

 
Old Business 

A. Montreat General Ordinance, Chapter K, Article IV-Hillside Development:
Commissioner Standaert moved to adopt Ordinance #16-02-0001 amending Montreat 
General Ordinance, Chapter K, Article IV-Hillside Development.  Commissioner Ann Vinson 
seconded and the motion carried 5/0. 

   

 
B. 

Commissioner Vinson moved to adopt Ordinance #16-02-0002 amending Montreat Zoning 
Ordinance, Article VI- General Provisions.  Mayor Pro Tem Fouche seconded.  Commissioner 
Standaert asked Mr. Currie to share the names of the Planning & Zoning Committee so they 
could be acknowledged and thanked for all their hard work.  Mayor Helms asked for those 
in attendance to stand and be recognized.  There being no further discussion, the motion 
carried 5/0. 

Montreat Zoning Ordinance, Article VI-General Provisions: 

 
New Business 

Packet Page 136



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Meeting Minutes 

February 11, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page 

 
A. Lookout Road Area-Preliminary Utility Service Plan

In April 2015, the Board of Commissioners agreed to complete a utility service plan for the 
Oklahoma Road and Lookout Road area.  At that time, McGill Associates submitted a 
proposal in the amount of $8,500 for conceptual planning and budget estimating to extend 
public utilities and street improvements to this area.  It is anticipated that these extensions 
would be undertaken as phased public assessment projects, similar to those in the Upper 
Kentucky Road area.  Town Ordinances currently allow for three options when utility 
extension are requested:  (1)  petitioners can pay for their own improvements, (2) a phased 
assessment approach, which means that the petitioners who get direct benefit from the 
improvements will pay for the improvements, or (3) petitioners can wait for the Town to 
pay for the improvements through the Capital Improvements Plan.   

:   

 
Commissioner Vinson moved to approve a contract for preliminary utility service 
engineering and planning with McGill Associates in the amount of $8,500 and to authorize 
the Mayor and Town Administrator to execute the necessary contract documents.  Mayor 
Pro Tem Fouche seconded. 
 
Commissioner Gilliland asked for further explanation from Mr. Nalley on this proposal with 
regards to spending the money now rather than later.  Mr. Nalley explained that a plan like 
this can normally take six months to a year to complete.  Current Ordinances do not allow 
for private wells or septic systems so it would be better to have a plan in place if someone 
were to come forward requesting public water and sewer extensions.  Mr. Nalley stated 
that upon completion, McGill Associates would provide a map, showing where the phased 
extensions of water, sewer and roads would likely occur and the costs associated with each 
of those phases.    
 
Commissioner Standaert asked if this vote could be delayed until the next Council meeting 
to allow more time for public comment.  Commissioner Standaert expressed her concern 
that this may generate more traffic on Oklahoma and Lookout Roads and she has heard a 
lot about traffic concerns in that area over the past few years.  Commissioner Standaert 
discussed previous tensions between those that want to build and develop the Town and 
those that want to preserve the Wilderness, so she wants ample time for opinions to be 
voiced on this matter. 

 
Based on Commissioner Standaert’s comments Commissioner Vinson withdrew her motion.   
Mayor Helms stated that this topic will be brought back to the Council in March for further 
consideration. 
 
 
 

 

Packet Page 137



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Meeting Minutes 

February 11, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page 

B. 2016-2021 Capital Improvement Plan:
Mayor Pro Tem Kitty Fouche called for a Public Hearing on March 10, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. or 
as soon thereafter as possible to discuss the proposed 2016-2021 Capital Improvements 
Plan.  Commissioner Vinson seconded and the motion carried 5/0. 

   

 
C. Street Name Request-Covenant Lane:

Commissioner Vinson moved to approve Covenant Lane as the street name for the street 
extension of Upper Kentucky Road.  Commissioner Gilliland seconded and the motion 
carried 5/0. 

  

 

 
Public Comments-Other Topics 

Mayor Helms reiterated that the Public Comment period were for remarks pertaining to public 
business items not listed on the meeting agenda, including any reports or communications 
from other community entities. 
 
Tanner Pickett, representing the Montreat Conference Center, presented a check to the Town 
in the amount of $4,795.20 as part of the Community Service Fee. 
 
Alex Miller, Vice President for Advancement for Montreat College, reported on record 
enrollments at Montreat College as well as renovations and upgrades to the College facilities.   
 
Rev. Erskine Clarke of 558 Providence Terrace, felt that in the most recent election the people 
of Montreat showed a successful exercise in democracy and fulfilled their civic duty.    
 
Bill Seaman of 425 Appalachian Way, announced that there was an unexpected resignation 
from Montreat Landcare and asked the Board for help in filling the vacancy. 
 
Eric Nichols of 527 Suwannee Drive, looks forward to everyone working together for the 
common good.  Mr. Nichols stated that if Council entertains ideas of paying legal costs for the 
Plaintiffs in the lawsuit it will be unfortunate for all involved. 
 
John Hinkle of 121 Mecklenburg Circle, addressed the representative from Montreat College, 
thanking the college students that helped shovel driveways during the recent snow storm.  Mr. 
Hinkle recommended that the College compile a list of young men and women willing to assist 
with shoveling for future weather incidents. 
 
Shannon Ingersoll of 124 Eastminster Terrace, expressed her appreciation for the College 
students who spent several hours shoveling driveways along her road. 
 

 
Commissioner Communications 

Packet Page 138



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Meeting Minutes 

February 11, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page 

Mayor Pro Tem Fouche reiterated that the Board was going to strive for more open 
communication with the public and provide more opportunities this summer for public forums. 
 
Commissioner Vinson, speaking on behalf of the Audit Committee, reported that they have an 
open seat and applications can be found online.  The Audit Committee hopes to meet in March 
or April so they can consider finalizing a request for qualifications for potential auditing firms.   
 
Commissioner Vinson, speaking on behalf of Montreat Landcare, reported that they also had 
an unexpected resignation and an application and information is available online.  Montreat 
Landcare is preparing for the Native Plant Sale which will be held on April 30, 2016.  The 
Committee is looking for volunteers.  Commissioner Vinson also announced that the Tree 
Board’s Organizational Meeting will be held on February 23rd at 3:00 p.m. at the Town Service 
Building.   
 
Mayor Helms invited anyone who would like to meet with him to please contact him.   
 

 
Upcoming Meeting Dates 

Mayor Helms reviewed the following list of upcoming meeting dates and deadlines:  
 

February 23, 2016, 3:00 p.m. Montreat Tree Board 
Town Services Office 

 
February 26, 2016 by 5:00 p.m. Agenda Items Due 

Town Services Office 
 

March 1, 2016 Agenda Packets Available 
Town Services Office 

 
March 2, 2016, 9:00 a.m. Montreat Landcare 

Kirk Allen Building 
Swannanoa Room 

 

 
March Agenda Meeting March 3, 2016, 7:00 p.m. 

Public Forum will begin at 6:30 p.m. 
Walkup Building 

 
March 10, 2016, 7:00 p.m. March Town Council Meeting 

Walkup Building 
       

 
Closed Session 

Packet Page 139



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Meeting Minutes 

February 11, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page 

Commissioner Vinson moved to enter into Closed Session in accordance with North Carolina 
General Statute §143-318.11(3) for attorney consultation regarding the Civil Action:  Carolyn 
Zoe Crowder, John L. Currie, Nancy B. Thomas, Henry W. Darden, Jr., and wife, Carolyn V. 
Darden, Plaintiffs, versus the Town of Montreat, Defendant.  Commissioner Fouche seconded 
and the motion carried 5/0. 
 
Upon a motion by Commissioner Vinson and a second by Commissioner Otto with the motion 
carrying 5/0, the Board returned to Open Session.  No action was taken during the Closed 
Session. 

 

 
Adjournment 

Upon returning to open session, Commissioner Vinson moved to adjourn the meeting.  
Commissioner Gilliland seconded.  The meeting was adjourned at 9:42 p.m. 
 
 
 
   

Tim Helms, Mayor  Angela Murphy, Town Clerk 

 

Packet Page 140



TOWN OF MONTREAT 
FISCAL YEAR 2015-2016 

BUDGET AMENDMENT #4 
 
 

Be it ordained by the Town of Montreat Board of Commissioners that the following 
amendment be made to the Budget Ordinance for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016. 
 
Department(s): Sanitation, Streets 
 
Purpose: To reallocate budget to cover sanitation truck repairs. 
 
Section 1.  To amend the General Fund as follows: 

 
Line Item Account 

Number 
Amount 

Debit 
Amount 
Credit 

Amended 
Budget 

Sanitation – M&R Trucks 10-30-5800-170 $5,500  $7,000 
Streets – Capital Outlay 10-60-5800-730  $5,500 $1,077,800 

     
 
Section 2.  I certify that the accounting records provide for this budget amendment, and that 
the revenue source(s) are available: 
 
   

Finance Officer  Date 
 
Section 3.  Copies of this amendment shall be delivered to the Budget/Finance Officer and 
Town Auditor for their direction. 

 
Adopted this __________ day of ____________________, ________. 
 

Recorded and filed: 
 
   

Budget Officer/Town Administrator  Date 
 

Town Clerk  Date 
 
 
 

Packet Page 141



TOWN OF MONTREAT BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Meeting Date:   March 10, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  Montreat Landcare Committee Member Appointment  

AGENDA INFORMATION
 

: 

Agenda Location:  Consent Agenda 
Item Number:   C 
Department:   Administration 
Contact:   Ron Nalley, Town Administrator 
Presenter:   Ron Nalley, Town Administrator 

BRIEF SUMMARY: Montreat Landcare recently received the unexpected resignation of 
Shannon Ingersoll.  Mr. John Johnson expressed a willingness to serve and has submitted his 
application for the Board’s consideration.  If appointed, Mr. Johnson will fill the unexpired term 
of Mrs. Ingersoll which will expire on January 31, 2018.   

RECOMMENDED MOTION AND REQUESTED ACTIONS: To appoint John Johnson to fill the 
unexpired term of Shannon Ingersoll on the Montreat Landcare Committee to expire on 
January 31, 2018. 

FUNDING SOURCE
 

:  Not Applicable 

ATTACHMENTS:  Advisory Board Application – John Johnson 

STAFF COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

 

:  None          

 

Packet Page 142



Packet Page 143



J:\BOC\Board Action Requests\Board Action Request Form Template.docx 

TOWN OF MONTREAT BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Meeting Date:   March 10, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: Open Space Conservation Committee Appointment 

AGENDA INFORMATION
 

: 

Agenda Location:   Consent Agenda   
Item Number:    D    
Department:   Administration   
Contact:     Ron Nalley, Town Administrator    
Presenter:     Ron Nalley, Town Administrator    

BRIEF SUMMARY: The Montreat Open Space Conservation Committee is a three member 
advisory board that meets twice a year, May and November.  Members serve a two year term 
and unlike other committees, there is no term limit.  The Committee is tasked with developing 
and implementing an action plan for Open Space Conservation, including public education and 
property owner outreach efforts        

RECOMMENDED MOTION AND REQUESTED ACTIONS

  

: To appoint Mary Nell Todd to the 
Montreat Open Space Conservation Committee for a term of two years to expire on January 31, 
2018. 

FUNDING SOURCE
 

:  Not Applicable 

ATTACHMENTS:    Advisory Board Application-Mary Nell Todd   

STAFF COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

 

: None           

 

Packet Page 144



Packet Page 145



Packet Page 146



Packet Page 147



Packet Page 148



Packet Page 149



Packet Page 150



Packet Page 151



Packet Page 152



Packet Page 153



Packet Page 154



Packet Page 155



Packet Page 156



Packet Page 157



Packet Page 158



Packet Page 159



Packet Page 160



Packet Page 161



Packet Page 162



Packet Page 163



Packet Page 164



Packet Page 165



Packet Page 166



Packet Page 167



Packet Page 168



Packet Page 169



Packet Page 170



Packet Page 171



NEWS Alert 

Please help us alert the public to the phone drill that Buncombe Emergency Management will conduct 
on March 9 as a test of their emergency notification system.  The call will be placed at 1 p.m. to 
residential and business landlines with a recorded message requesting everyone sign up for emergency 
messages by texting “BCAlert” to 888777 on their cell phones.  In the case of a true emergency, this is 
one of the ways that County Emergency Management could notify residents and provide instructions 
and other crucial information. (Residents can go to www.nixle.com to sign up with landlines or for email 
contacts) 

This is part of a larger event scheduled for March 9.  Buncombe County Emergency Management will be 
joined by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) and area partners including Asheville City 
and Buncombe County Schools, A-B Tech, Ingles Markets, Biltmore Estate, City of Asheville, UNC 
Asheville, National Weather Service and Mission Hospital in an emergency preparedness event.  This 
local effort is a part of FEMA’s PrepareAthon initiative to increase emergency preparedness and 
resilience.  Area schools and some businesses will hold tornado drills that morning as well. 

 

 

Packet Page 172

http://www.nixle.com/�


 
MONTHLY POLICE STATISTICS REPORT 

February 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 

Mileage 3094 2580 2206 2889 2893 
Dispatched Calls 110 58 119 90 74 

Officer-Initiated Calls 184 182 211 136 243 
Fire/EMS Assistance Calls 12F/3E 4F/2E 14F/1E 12 8 

Motorist/Other Assistance Calls 59 60 83 29 21 
Traffic Stops 25 33 37 31 30 

Parking Issues 3 2 5 9 21 
Burglar/Fire Alarm Responses 4B/5F 2B 4B/2F 1B,2F 4 
Residential/Building Checks 261 232 101 83 499 

Ordinance violations 7 10 10 20 13 
LE Agency Assistance Calls 14 7 30 17 54 

Animal Calls 1 1 4 4 2 
Larcenies 0 0 0 0 1 
B&E Calls 1 0 0 0 1 

Suspicious Person/Vehicle Investigations 19P/8V 8P/7V 5P/23V 3P,3V 21 
Disturbance Calls 2 4 1 1         7 

Accident Responses 6 3 1 3 0 
Auxiliary Hours Worked 32R 32R/16T 32R/24T 32R,54T 128 

Truck turns at gate 1 2 2 3 5 
 

• Town service: 380 
• MRA service: 122 
• College service: 11 
• On 02/02/2016, MPD received a call reference a suspicious person, the subject was located and 

escorted to the Homeless Shelter 
• On 02/11/2016, a big thank you to the Montreat residents for providing a Valentine luncheon to 

the Staff, everyone really enjoyed  
• On 02/13/2016, MPD located trees down on Virginia Road and Greybeard Road (thanks to the 

Street Department for getting roadways back open) 
• On 02/15/2016, MPD worked three wrecks on Assembly Drive reference to extremely icy 

conditions.  MPD also had two rescues (motor vehicles stuck) on this date. 
• On 02/16/2016, two MPD Officers started their mandatory in-service training, which included 

Juvenile Sensitivity, Use of Force, and NC Laws Reference Firearms.  Also on this date, MPD 
assisted BMFD with access to Appalachian Trail for a safety sweep. 

• On 02/19/2016, MPD responded to a call on Mississippi reference a basement door that had been 
pushed or kicked open, nothing was disturbed or taken from the residence, a report was declined.  
We did a canvas of 6 other residences in the area and found all to be secure.  On this same date, 
MPD responded to a disturbance call on Virginia Road, the situation was resolved. 

• On 02/22/2016, MPD responded to a box truck that had struck the gate.  A report was taken, 
MRA was called, a structural engineer deemed the gate to be closed until further notice.  At the 
time of this incident, another wreck occurred at the scene, a report was taken. 

Packet Page 173



• On 02/24/2016, MPD day and night shift assisted the Street Department with removal of downed 
limbs due to high wind throughout the Town. 

• On 02/26/2016, MPD assisted the BMFD on staging their gear at Anderson Auditorium parking 
lot and escorted them to Appalachian Gate reference spending the night to assist runners in the 
morning.  We also taped off the upper section of Appalachian Trail to provide ambulance turn 
around and the incident commander, Charlie Russell, to stage. 

• On 02/27/2016, MPD worked the Mount Mitchell Marathon, following an Incident Action Plan,  
escorting from the Gate to Rainbow Trail 471 runners with only one incident, a runner had to be 
transported off the mountain. (Thanks to BMFD and all volunteers!) 

 
Note:  On April16, 2016 a Montreat College Event Health Fair and Fun Run will take place from 8a-
12p.  Most of the activities for this event will be held on the college campus around Gaither 
Fellowship Hall.  At 8:30a. there is  Fun Run from McGreggor Dorm to the Montreat Gate and back.  
No fixed road closures are planned at this time, as the majority of the Fun Run is going to be on 
Texas Road to the Riverwalk trail and back up the bike lane.  We will be working with Montreat 
College Campus Police and Cassidy O’Brien the student organizing this event, for the safety of both 
the students and the Town of Montreat. 

Packet Page 174



                                      General Fund

                                            Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

                                                                        For the Period Ended January, 2016  

4 FYE 2016 Previously Current FYE 2016 FYE 15 Comparison FYE 2016

Actual to 

Budget %

Statement 

Period Variance 1/31/15

Budgeted Reported Month YTD Actual YTD Actual  Remaining Budget 7

Revenues:

Ad valorem taxes 952,500.00$          612,033.61$          -$                      612,033.61$          678,105.27$            340,466.39$          

Other taxes and licenses 357,400.00$          137,344.76$          32,295.12$            169,639.88$          154,702.04$            187,760.12$          

Unrestricted intergovernmental 60,500.00$            28,551.63$            -$                      28,551.63$            23,981.09$              31,948.37$            

Permits and Fees 46,000.00$            20,982.74$            5,690.27$              26,673.01$            15,172.11$              19,326.99$            

Community Service Fee 50,000.00$            40,762.80$            -$                      40,762.80$            41,075.00$              9,237.20$              

Sales and Services 13,000.00$            5,966.67$              382.00$                 6,348.67$              5,156.51$                6,651.33$              

Investment earnings 2,200.00$              481.10$                 161.33$                 642.43$                 500.37$                   1,557.57$              

Other revenues 23,718.00$            11,593.20$            163.49$                 11,756.69$            746.28$                   11,961.31$            

Subtotal - Normal Operating 1,505,318.00$       857,716.51$          38,692.21$            896,408.72$          919,438.67$            608,909.28$          59.55% 58.33% 1.22% 3.68%

Restricted intergovernmental 740,000.00$         156,087.96$         -$                      156,087.96$         39,442.31$              583,912.04$         

Contributions - Landcare 10,000.00$           14,100.00$           -$                      14,100.00$           -$                        (4,100.00)$            

Contributions - Open Space -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                        -$                      

Total Revenues 2,255,318.00         1,027,904.47         38,692.21              1,066,596.68         958,880.98$            1,188,721.32         47.29% 58.33% -11.04% -17.28%

Expenditures:

Governing Body 104,700.00$          56,080.51$            2,049.84$              58,130.35$            18,593.31$              46,569.65$            55.52% 58.33% 2.81% 30.96%

Administration 282,800.00$          133,181.69$          18,424.01$            151,605.70$          172,620.78$            131,194.30$          53.61% 58.33% 4.72% -3.47%

Public Buildings 139,950.00$          35,572.72$            1,156.29$              36,729.01$            170,263.82$            103,220.99$          26.24% 58.33% 32.09% -16.99%

Police 378,943.00$          209,071.28$          21,189.83$            230,261.11$          206,908.54$            148,681.89$          60.76% 58.33% -2.43% 4.30%

Building & Zoning 82,200.00$            39,582.04$            4,978.07$              44,560.11$            41,104.33$              37,639.89$            54.21% 58.33% 4.12% 4.18%

Public Works 86,100.00$            38,476.24$            4,858.92$              43,335.16$            40,809.10$              42,764.84$            50.33% 58.33% 8.00% 3.03%

Streets 1,271,400.00$       157,993.90$          14,750.08$            172,743.98$          236,852.36$            1,098,656.02$       13.59% 58.33% 44.75% 41.96%

Powell Bill 56,000.00$            2,568.64$              1,970.91$              4,539.55$              4,330.36$                51,460.45$            8.11% 58.33% 50.23% 48.38%

Sanitation 113,600.00$          51,230.86$            5,405.02$              56,635.88$            59,449.95$              56,964.12$            49.86% 58.33% 8.48% -3.62%

Env/Cons/Rec 28,500.00$            9,302.97$              -$                      9,302.97$              18.17$                     19,197.03$            32.64% 58.33% 25.69% 58.12%

Total expenditures 2,544,193.00         733,060.85$          74,782.97$            807,843.82$          950,950.72$            1,736,349.18$       31.75% 58.33% 26.58% 23.12%

Revenues over expenditures (288,875.00)           294,843.62$          (36,090.76)$          258,752.86$          7,930.26$                (547,627.86)$         

Other financing sources (uses):

Transfer to/from Water Fund -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                        -$                       

Fund Balance Appropriated: 288,875.00$          -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                        288,875.00$          

Total other financing sources (uses) 288,875.00$          -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                        288,875.00$          

Revenues and other sources over

  expenditures and other uses -$                       294,843.62$          (36,090.76)$          258,752.86$          7,930.26$                (258,752.86)$         

Expenditure Recap:

Salaries & Benefits 922,400.00$          477,146.65$          58,775.21$            535,921.86$          526,175.11$            386,478.14$          

Other Operating 405,318.00$          191,915.87$          16,007.76$            207,923.63$          165,994.40$            197,394.37$          

CIP/Grant Projects 1,216,475.00$      63,998.33$           -$                      63,998.33$           258,781.21$            1,152,476.67$      

Total Expenditures 2,544,193.00$       733,060.85$          74,782.97$            807,843.82$          950,950.72$            1,736,349.18$       

Packet Page 175



                                      Water Fund

                                            Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

                                                                        For the Period Ended January, 2016  
                                                                        

FYE 2016 Previously Current FYE 2016 FYE 15 Comparison FYE 2016

Actual to 

Budget 

Percent

Statement 

Period Variance 1/31/15

Budgeted Reported Month YTD Actual YTD Actual  Remaining Budget 7

Revenues:

Ad valorem taxes -$                      -$                       

Other taxes and licenses -$                       70,298.71$            -$                      70,298.71$            (70,298.71)$           

MRA Comm Svc Fee -$                       -$                      -$                       

Permits and Fees -$                      -$                       

Sales and Services 300,000.00$          158,002.71$          18,282.11$            176,284.82$          170,844.12$            123,715.18$          

Investment earnings 500.00$                 40.49$                   12.57$                   53.06$                   43.87$                     446.94$                 

Other revenues 26,500.00$            20,581.90$            616.43$                 21,198.33$            21,740.89$              5,301.67$              

Subtotal - Normal Operating 327,000.00$          248,923.81$          18,911.11$            267,834.92$          192,628.88$            59,165.08$            

Restricted intergovernmental -$                      -$                      

Total revenues 327,000.00$          248,923.81$          18,911.11$            267,834.92$          192,628.88$            59,165.08$            81.91% 58.33% 23.57% -22.60%

Expenditures:

Water Department 327,000.00$          72,383.82$            6,321.77$              78,705.59$            81,804.94$              248,294.41$          24.07% 58.33% 34.26% 43.16%

Total expenditures 327,000.00$          72,383.82$            6,321.77$              78,705.59$            81,804.94$              248,294.41$          24.07% 58.33% 34.26% 43.16%

Revenues over expenditures -$                       176,539.99$          12,589.34$            189,129.33$          110,823.94$            (189,129.33)$         

Other financing sources (uses):

Transfers to/from General Fund -$                       -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                        -$                       

Fund Balance Appropriated: -$                       -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                        -$                       

Total other financing sources (uses) -$                       -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                        -$                       

Revenues and other sources over

  expenditures and other uses -$                       176,539.99$          12,589.34$            189,129.33$          110,823.94$            (189,129.33)$         

Expenditure Recap:

Salaries & Benefits -$                       -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                       

Other Operating 327,000.00$          72,383.82$            6,321.77$              78,705.59$            81,504.94$              248,294.41$          

CIP/Grant Projects -$                      -$                      -$                      300.00$                   -$                      

Total Expenditures 327,000.00$          72,383.82$            6,321.77$              78,705.59$            81,804.94$              248,294.41$          

Packet Page 176



Town of Montreat Cash & Investments Report As of 3

Institution Type Maturity Date Balance Central General Water Int. Rate Int for mo

Avl Sav Bank Checking x2519 164,263.89$       164,263.89$   0.00% -$                 

Avl Sav Bank Cent'l Dep x 6863 5,922.09$            5,922.09$       0.00% -$                 

Avl Sav Bank Savings - Powell Bill 3572 198,572.44$       198,572.44$     0.10% 15.78$             

Avl Sav Bank Savings - Water Res. 7727 58,124.24$         58,124.24$       0.10% 4.61$               

Avl Sav Bank MMkt Acct xxx1204 1,816,607.07$    1,816,607.07$  0.08% 121.70$           

Avl Sav Bank Subtotal 2,243,489.73$    

BB&T MMkt Act - General Fund 449,823.96$       449,823.96$     0.10% 35.64$             

BB&T MMkt Act - Water Fund 157,418.72$       157,418.72$    0.10% 12.47$             

BB&T Subtotal 607,242.68$       

NCCMT Investment - General Fund 6,431.00$            6,431.00$          0.30% 1.53$               

NCCMT Investment - Water Fund 6,714.51$            6,714.51$         0.30% 1.60$               

NCCMT Subtotal 13,145.51$         

All Accts Subtotal 2,863,877.92$    170,185.98$   2,471,434.47$  222,257.47$    0.08% 193.33$           

All Accts Fiscal Year to Date 2,082,089.37$    0.07% 872.69$           

(average) (average) (cumulative)

Avl Sav Bank CD, 1yr x6827 Empl Benf 11/24/2016 54,415.89$         54,415.89$       0.15% 23.40$             

Avl Sav Bank CD x5119 11/12/2016 10,342.18$         10,342.18$       0.15% 4.61$               

CDs Subtotal 64,758.07$         0.15% 28.01$             

All Accts + CDs Total 2,928,635.99$    0.09% 221.34$           

All Accts + CDs Fiscal Year to Date 2,146,817.69$    0.09% 981.21$           

(average) (average)  

February 29, 2016

Packet Page 177



Packet Page 178



Packet Page 179



Packet Page 180



Packet Page 181



Packet Page 182



Packet Page 183



Packet Page 184



Packet Page 185



Packet Page 186



Packet Page 187



Packet Page 188



Packet Page 189



Packet Page 190



Packet Page 191



Packet Page 192



Packet Page 193



Packet Page 194



Packet Page 195



Packet Page 196



Packet Page 197



Packet Page 198



Packet Page 199



Packet Page 200



Packet Page 201



Packet Page 202



Packet Page 203



Packet Page 204



Packet Page 205



Packet Page 206



Packet Page 207



Packet Page 208



Packet Page 209



Packet Page 210



Packet Page 211



Packet Page 212



Packet Page 213



Packet Page 214



Packet Page 215



 
 

TOWN OF MONTREAT BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Meeting Date:  March 10, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:
 

  Lookout Road Area - Preliminary Utility Service Plan 

 
AGENDA INFORMATION: 

Agenda Location: Old Business 
Item Number: A 
Department:  Public Works 
Contact:  Steve Freeman, Public Works Director  
Presenter:  Steve Freeman, Public Works Director 
 
BRIEF SUMMARY:

 

  In April 2015, the Board of Commissioners agreed to complete a utility 
service plan for the Oklahoma Road and Lookout Road area.  At that time, McGill Associates 
submitted a proposal in the amount of $8,500 for conceptual planning and budget estimating to 
extend public utilities and street improvements to this area.  It is anticipated that these extensions 
would be undertaken as phased public assessment projects, similar to those in the Upper 
Kentucky Road area.  At their February meeting, the Board of Commissioners requested 
additional time to review the proposal and to receive any additional public input on the project.     

RECOMMENDED MOTION AND REQUESTED ACTIONS:

 

  To approve a contract for 
preliminary utility service and engineering planning with McGill Associates in the amount of 
$8,500 and to authorize the Mayor and Town Administrator to execute the necessary contract 
documents. 

FUNDING SOURCE:
 

  Public Works - Capital Outlay 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

  McGill Associates Contract Proposal, Area Map, and Lot Ownership Map 

ADMINISTRATOR’S COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:  Although the Town 
has not yet received a petition or written request for public utility or street improvements to this 
area, Town staff feels that such a request is very likely in the near future.  The cost of the 
extensions would initially be financed by the Town, and reimbursed over a ten-year period 
through annual payments from benefitted lot owners.   

Packet Page 216



Packet Page 217



Packet Page 218



Packet Page 219



 

55 Broad Street P.O. Box 2259 ph: 828.252.0575 
Asheville. North Carolina 28801 Asheville, North Carolina 28802 f: 828.252.2518 www.mcgillengineers.com 

January 27, 2016 
 
Mr. Ron Nalley, Town Manager 
Town of Montreat 
Post Office Box 423 
Montreat, North Carolina 28757 
 
      RE: Request for Proposal 
       Conceptual Planning and Budget Estimating 
       Oklahoma Road Area Development 
       Town of Montreat, North Carolina 
 
Dear Ron:   
 
 R.L. Haynes and I appreciated the opportunity to meet with you and Steve Freeman on 
Tuesday, April 14, 2015 to discuss the planning efforts the Town is undertaking in the Oklahoma 
Road area.  It was very helpful for us to meet with you both and we appreciate the background 
information you were able to share with us to assist us with the preparation of this scope of work.   
 
 I have met with our staff internally to develop a proposed scope of work that we believe 
will provide the Town with the information you are looking for.  Specifically, we propose the 
following scope of work: 
 

1. Obtain publicly available GIS based property boundary and topographic information for 
the basis of our evaluation.   

 
2. Develop a conceptual schematic layout of the proposed improvements necessary to 

provide vehicular access and water and sewer utilities to the MRA and other privately 
owned lots generally up-slope from Oklahoma and Lookout Roads.  The sketches will 
clearly indicate any proposed phasing of the project.   

 
3. Based upon these conceptual layouts, prepare cost estimates for the proposed roads and 

water and sewer system extensions, including storm drainage improvements.  Fees for 
professional services will also be estimated.   

 
4. Group the proposed improvements into logical phases (typically by street) in order to 

facilitate the appropriate allocation of costs to the underlying property owners.   
 

5. Identify a list of the anticipated permits that must be obtained for each phase of the 
development as it moves to detailed design.   

 
6. Present the results of our work in letter format to Town Staff.   

 

Packet Page 220



Mr. Ron Nalley, Town Manager 
January 27, 2016 
Page 2 

 We do want to emphasize, as we discussed when we met, that our work will be 
conceptual in nature, suitable for establishing general planning budgets.  More accurate work 
cannot be performed without detailed boundary and topographic information.  For this exercise, 
we plan to utilize publicly available GIS and LIDAR based survey information which has 
limitations in accuracy.  As you know there will remain substantial details to be worked out 
during an actual design process that could result in changes to the conceptual layouts and 
budgets that we prepare as part of this work.   
 
 McGill Associates proposes to provide the above scope of work for a lump sum fee of 
$8,500.00, and proposes completion of the effort within 60 days of the receipt of an executed 
proposal.   
 
 Ron, McGill Associates appreciates this opportunity to present you with this proposal for 
professional engineering services.  If you have any questions about the information contained 
herein, please do not hesitate to call me.   
 
      Sincerely,  
      McGILL ASSOCIATES, P.A. 
 
 
 
      HARRY B. BUCKNER, PE 
      Project Manager 
 
HBB/hbb 
 
cc: Steve Freeman, Director of Public Works, Town of Montreat 
 Mark Cathey, PE, McGill Associates 
 RL Haynes, McGill Associates 

Packet Page 221



TOWN OF MONTREAT BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Meeting Date:   March 10, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  Texas Road Bridge Project    

AGENDA INFORMATION
 

: 

Agenda Location:   Old Business   
Item Number:  B  
Department:  Administration  
Contact:  Ron Nalley, Town Administrator 
Presenter:  Ron Nalley, Town Administrator    

BRIEF SUMMARY:  At the formal request of a Commissioner, this item has been added to the 
agenda for consideration and possible action.  In a letter dated February 4, 2016, Dewayne 
Sykes with KCI Associates, discussed four options for proceeding with the construction of Texas 
Road Bridge. The Texas Road Bridge is currently closed to vehicular traffic due to safety 
concerns related to its state of deterioration.    

RECOMMENDED MOTION AND REQUESTED ACTIONS:  To move forward with the Texas Road 
Bridge project by choosing Option ___ from the options listed in KCI Associates letter dated 
February 4, 2016 and to authorize the Mayor and Town Administrator to execute the necessary 
contract documents.     

FUNDING SOURCE
 

:  Capital Outlay – Bridge Construction 

ATTACHMENTS:  KCI Associates letter dated February 4, 2016; Project Background; and the 
final Categorical Exclusion Document   

STAFF COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

 

:  In the letter from KCI Associates, Dewayne 
Sykes offers four options for proceeding with the construction of the Texas Road Bridge project. 
Option A, leaves the design and location of the bridge as is and the Town proceeds with the 
plans as currently designed.  Option B, leaves the horizontal location of the bridge, but lowers 
the bridge elevation significantly requiring the Town to accept up to a one foot rise in flood 
elevation.  Option C, selects one of the previously studied alternates and reopens design and 
right-of-way acquisition.  Option D, creates and selects a new alternate/project, which creates a 
new planning document, design and need for right-of-way acquisition.  The letter goes on to 
discuss the planning and design cost and additional time associated with each option.    

 

Packet Page 222



 

To:   Mr. Ronald W. Nalley 
   Town of Montreat Town Administrator 

    
From:   Dewayne L. Sykes – KCI Associates of NC, PA 
   Project Manager 
 
Date:   February 4, 2016 

TIP Number:  B-5196 

County:   Buncombe 

Project:   Replacement of Bridge #528 – Texas Road over Flat Creek 

Background and Available Options 

NCDOT Bridge Management Unit records indicate Bridge No. 528 has a sufficiency rating of 21.9 out of a 
possible 100 for a new structure. It was constructed in 1960 and has reached the end of its useful life, 
exhibiting a degree of deterioration that can no longer be addressed by maintenance activities; 
therefore, the existing bridge is currently closed to vehicular traffic due to safety concerns related to its 
state of deterioration. Replacement of the bridge is needed to provide safer access and mobility in the 
area as well as to improve community connections. The project is needed to support event circulation 
and ongoing access to Montreat College and the Montreat Conference Center, a retreat and conference 
center around which the Town of Montreat was founded and which remains a focus of activity for the 
community. Additionally, the replacement would maintain safe pedestrian access across Flat Creek and 
between several adjacent recreation areas, supporting an existing pedestrian path that crosses the 
bridge. 

In November 2015, the residents of the Town of Montreat elected a new mayor and 3 new town council 
members. The new board has indicated that they wish to revisit B-5196 alternates. Please note that 
adherence to current guidelines require that the proposed replacement bridge result in a “No rise” in 
flood elevation at the bridge. The outcome is the bridge elevation as currently designed, 7’ higher than 
the existing bridge. The previous town council did ask for consideration of a reduction in impacts. The 
proposed bridge elevation can be lowered through the acceptance of up to a 1’ in rise of flood elevation 
at the Texas Road Bridge.    

The following is a brief description of the 4 basic options: Option A (leave as designed, no change), 
Option B (leave proposed bridge in the same place but lower the bridge elevation), Option C (select one 
of the previously studied alternates) and Option D (study and select a new alternate).  

 
Packet Page 223



2 
 

 

Option A 

This option leaves the design and location of the bridge as is. The town proceeds forward with the plans 
as currently designed. Must resume Right of way agreement with Mountain Retreat Association. Must 
resume environmental and TVA permit application process.   

Delay: 2 months 
Design Cost: NA 
 

Option B 

This option leaves the horizontal location of the bridge as is but lowers the bridge elevation significantly. 
It requires that the town accept up to a 1 foot rise in flood elevation. A CLOMR (Conditional Letter of 
Map Revision) showing the revised flood limits must be done. While the horizontal location will not 
change, the vertical elevation will. A new roadway grade and a new bridge must be designed. Other than 
proceeding as currently designed, this is the simplest and quickest. It could also result in construction 
cost savings in a shorter bridge. 

Delay: 12 months 
Design Cost: $200K ($40K by Town of Montreat + $160K by FHWA) 
 
 
Option C 

This option selects one of the previously studied alternates and perhaps the one that ties opposite 
Tennessee Road. The planning document must be reopened and agreement with State Historic 
Preservation Office (SHPO), FHWA and others obtained. There is no guarantee that an alternate other 
than replace at the existing location could be selected.  With the MRA recreational area impacts, an 
avoidance alternate must be studied. This would push alternate selection back to the current alternate, 
along existing. This essentially creates a new project and we would be starting over on the design. New 
surveys, roadway design, drainage design, bridge design and utility coordination would be required. 
Different R/W and easements must be acquired.   

Delay: 6 months (for planning document), 20 -24 months (new design) 26 – 30 months (total). 
Planning and design Cost: $300K ($60K by Town of Montreat + $240K by FHWA) 
 

Option D 

This option creates and selects a new alternate. This new alternate must be designed and studied. The 
planning document must be reopened or redone. Agreement with SHPO, FHWA and others obtained. 
There is no guarantee that an alternate other than replace at the existing location could be selected.  

 
Packet Page 224



3 
 

With the MRA recreational area impacts, an avoidance alternate must be studied. This would push 
alternate selection back to the current alternate, along existing. This essentially creates a new planning 
document, a new project and we would be starting over on the design. New surveys, roadway design, 
drainage design, bridge design and utility coordination would be required. Different R/W and easements 
must be acquired. 

Delay: 12 months (for planning document), 20 -24 months (new design) 32– 36 months (total). 
Planning and design Cost: $350K ($70K by Town of Montreat + $280K by FHWA) 
 

These delay and cost numbers are estimates but relative. Option A is by far the cheapest, the simplest 
and the easiest to implement but may not address the wishes of the new board. Of the remaining 
options, Option B is the cheapest, the simplest, the easiest to implement and was under consideration 
by the previous board.  We have surveys and a horizontal alignment that can be used. We have R/W and 
easement that can be used. The planning document can remain as is with a ‘consultation’ addressing the 
elevation change. There could be a construction cost savings with a shorter bridge. The other 2 options 
require a reopening and a possible major redo of the planning document. They are almost a completely 
new project. Delay and cost are significant. A replace in place (Options A & B) is usually the least 
damaging for all parties. In addition, conversations with FHWA indicate they could participate in funding. 
Option B would also be more amenable to SHPO since it lowers the proposed bridge elevation and 
therefore reduces impacts to the eligible historic properties.  

Should there be questions, please don’t hesitate to contact me.  

 

 
Packet Page 225



Packet Page 226



Packet Page 227



Packet Page 228



Packet Page 229



Packet Page 230



Packet Page 231



Packet Page 232



Packet Page 233



Packet Page 234



Packet Page 235



Packet Page 236



Packet Page 237



Packet Page 238



Packet Page 239



Packet Page 240



Packet Page 241



Packet Page 242



Packet Page 243



Packet Page 244



Packet Page 245



Packet Page 246



Packet Page 247



Packet Page 248



Packet Page 249



Packet Page 250



Packet Page 251



Packet Page 252



Packet Page 253



Packet Page 254



Packet Page 255



Packet Page 256



Packet Page 257



Packet Page 258



Packet Page 259



Packet Page 260



Packet Page 261



Packet Page 262



Packet Page 263



Packet Page 264



Packet Page 265



Packet Page 266



Packet Page 267



Packet Page 268



Packet Page 269



Packet Page 270



Packet Page 271



Packet Page 272



Packet Page 273



Packet Page 274



Packet Page 275



Packet Page 276



Packet Page 277



Packet Page 278



\\tom-server\datashare\BOC\Board Action Requests\2016 Requests\REQUEST_Town_Services_Office_Mitigation_&_Repairs_03102016.docx  

TOWN OF MONTREAT BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Meeting Date:  March 10, 2016 
 
SUBJECT
 

: Mold Mitigation/Repairs to Town Services Office 

AGENDA INFORMATION
 

: 

Agenda Location: New Business 
Item Number:  B 
Department:  Planning and Inspections 
Contact:  David Currie, Building inspector 
Presenter:  David Currie, Building inspector  
 
BRIEF SUMMARY:   As you know, over the course of many months the Town Services Office 
suffered water damage as a result of a roof leak on the northern end of the building.  We 
received bids for replacing the roof late last year, but postponed repairs until the weather 
permitted just a couple of weeks ago.  We are now ready to clean up the residual mold and 
damaged interior finishes affected by the leak. Three local companies were contacted to 
prepare estimates for your consideration, some of which are included in your packet tonight. 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION AND REQUESTED ACTIONS: To approve the clean-up and repair 
of the Montreat Town Services Office as detailed in the estimate provided by ServiceMaster of 
Hendersonville in the amount of $3,400, and to authorize the Mayor and Town Administrator 
to execute the necessary documents.     
 
FUNDING SOURCE: General Fund 
 
ATTACHMENTS: Mitigation and repair estimates provided by: First Restoration Services; 
ServiceMaster of Hendersonville. 

STAFF COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS: We received estimates for clean-up and 
mold mitigation from two of the three companies contacted, but only one company was able to 
provide both clean-up and repair estimates at this time. First Restoration Services claimed that 
they could not provide a repair estimate until after they had performed the clean-up and 
mitigation portion. Paul Davis Restoration assured us they would get their estimate to us in 
time for inclusion in your agenda packet, but unfortunately, this was not forthcoming. Staff 
believes it may be prudent to select the one company that provided information in a timely 
manner in order to move the project forward at this time. ServiceMaster of Hendersonville was 
very professional and responsive to our request for information about the clean-up and repairs 
process, and the price they provided seems reasonable given the scope of work that will be 
required. 

 

Packet Page 279



1

ServiceMaster of Hendersonville

35 Old Brickyard Road
Fletcher, NC 28732
Email: smhville@bellsouth.net
Federal ID # 56-1427055
Office: 828-654-1650 Fax: 828-654-1661

Insured: Town Of Montreat Home: (828) 669-8002 x 303
Property: 96 Rainbow Terrace

Black Mountian, NC 28711

Claim Rep.: David Edwards Business: (828) 654-1650
E-mail: edwada@smhville.comBusiness: 35 Old Brickyard Rd

Fletcher, NC 28732

Estimator: David Edwards Business: (828) 654-1650
E-mail: edwada@smhville.comBusiness: 35 Old Brickyard Rd

Fletcher, NC 28732

Claim Number: SELF PAY Policy Number: SELF PAY Type of Loss: Water Damage

Date Contacted: 3/1/2016
Date of Loss: 1/1/2016 Date Received: 2/29/2016

Date Inspected: 3/2/2016 Date Entered: 3/2/2016 11:09 AM

Price List: NCAS8X_FEB16
Restoration/Service/Remodel

Estimate: TOWN_OF_MONTREAT

Thank you for choosing ServiceMaster of Hendersonville for you emergency services. We at ServiceMaster of Hendersonville
strive to provide the best service for a fair market value. We appreciate your trusting in us to help you through this difficult
situation. Please let us know if you have any questions.

WE APPRECIATE AND VALUE YOUR BUSINESS AND STRIVE TO PROVIDE THE BEST POSSIBLE SERVICE FOR
YOU. IF THERE IS ANYTHING THAT WE NEED TO KNOW THAT MAY HELP US GET BETTER AT PROVIDING
GREAT SERVICE FOR A FAIR MARKET VALUE PLEASE LET US KNOW.

Final Upload

Packet Page 280



2

ServiceMaster of Hendersonville

35 Old Brickyard Road
Fletcher, NC 28732
Email: smhville@bellsouth.net
Federal ID # 56-1427055
Office: 828-654-1650 Fax: 828-654-1661

TOWN_OF_MONTREAT 3/2/2016 Page: 2

TOWN_OF_MONTREAT

Main Level
Main Level

DESCRIPTION QTY REMOVE REPLACE TAX TOTAL

2.  Haul debris - per pickup truck load - 1.00 EA 114.48 0.00 0.00 114.48
including dump fees

3.  Equipment setup, take down, and 6.00 HR 0.00 39.93 0.00 239.58
monitoring (hourly charge)

Equipment Set-Up, Break Down, MOnitoring and Documentation Charges if drying of wood structure is need upon completion of demolition. These
hours assume and 3 day drying time. If least or more is needed then the final bill would be adjusted

21.  Add for personal protective 2.00 EA 0.00 17.63 2.37 37.63
equipment - Heavy duty

22.  Respirator - Full face - multi- 2.00 DA 0.00 7.61 0.00 15.22
purpose resp. (per day)

23.  Respirator cartridge - HEPA only 2.00 EA 0.00 13.97 1.89 29.83
(per pair)

24.  Lead test - chemical solution - self 1.00 EA 0.00 24.28 0.22 24.50
test (per sample)

Total:  Main Level 4.48 461.24

Office

20
' 8

"
21

' 4
"

10' 10"
11' 6"

2'
 8

"
13

' 8
"

14
'

4'
 4

"
4'

 8
"

2' 8"
6' 8"

7'
1' 6"

Office Height: 7' 3"

421.19 SF Walls
645.08 SF Walls & Ceiling
24.88 SY Flooring
63.00 LF Ceil. Perimeter

223.89 SF Ceiling
223.89 SF Floor
57.67 LF Floor Perimeter

Missing Wall - Goes to Floor 2' 8" X 6' 8" Opens into Exterior

Door 2' 8" X 6' 8" Opens into Exterior

DESCRIPTION QTY REMOVE REPLACE TAX TOTAL

5.  Hazardous Waste/Mold Cleaning 2.00 HR 0.00 53.63 0.00 107.26
Technician - per hour

Time to Set up Negative Pressure for Mold remedation

7.  Containment Barrier/Airlock/Decon. 240.00 SF 0.00 0.57 1.13 137.93
Chamber

25.  Light fixture - Detach & reset 0.50 EA 0.00 34.39 0.00 17.20

Detach only

8.  Tear out wet drywall, cleanup, bag - 51.00 SF 0.96 0.00 0.52 49.48
Cat 3

9.  Tear out and bag wet insulation - 51.00 SF 0.79 0.00 0.21 40.50
Category 3 water

Packet Page 281



3

ServiceMaster of Hendersonville

35 Old Brickyard Road
Fletcher, NC 28732
Email: smhville@bellsouth.net
Federal ID # 56-1427055
Office: 828-654-1650 Fax: 828-654-1661

TOWN_OF_MONTREAT 3/2/2016 Page: 3

CONTINUED - Office

DESCRIPTION QTY REMOVE REPLACE TOTALTAX

10.  Apply plant-based anti-microbial 51.00 SF 0.00 0.20 0.14 10.34
agent

11.  Clean with pressure/chemical 76.50 SF 0.00 0.51 0.05 39.07
spray - Very heavy

Bio lift treatment of all framing materials in affected portion of ceiling

13.  HEPA Vacuuming - Detailed - 325.00 SF 0.00 0.64 0.00 208.00
(PER SF)

Heap Vacuuming of all surfaces with in containment

14.  Air mover (per 24 hour period) - 6.00 EA 0.00 25.54 0.00 153.24
No monitoring

2 Air movers for 3 days if drying is required

15.  Negative air fan/Air scrubber (24 3.00 DA 0.00 71.60 0.00 214.80
hr period) - No monit.

Air scrubber for 3 days

20.  Ducting - lay-flat 10.00 LF 0.00 0.29 0.20 3.10

used to duct processed air to exterior of the building

16.  Dehumidifier (per 24 hour period) - 3.00 EA 0.00 73.13 0.00 219.39
Large - No monitoring

1 Dehumidifier for 3 days if drying is required

17.  Content Manipulation charge - per 2.00 HR 0.00 23.81 0.00 47.62
hour

Manipulate contents so containment can be built

Totals:  Office 2.25 1,247.93

Total: Main Level 6.73 1,709.17

Line Item Totals: TOWN_OF_MONTREAT 6.73 1,709.17

Grand Total Areas:
421.19 SF Walls 223.89 SF Ceiling SF Walls and Ceiling645.08
223.89 SF Floor 24.88 SY Flooring 57.67 LF Floor Perimeter

0.00 SF Long Wall 0.00 SF Short Wall 63.00 LF Ceil. Perimeter

223.89 Floor Area 245.33 Total Area 421.19 Interior Wall Area
506.19 Exterior Wall Area 65.67 Exterior Perimeter of

Walls

0.00 Surface Area 0.00 Number of Squares 0.00 Total Perimeter Length
0.00 Total Ridge Length 0.00 Total Hip Length

Packet Page 282



4

ServiceMaster of Hendersonville

35 Old Brickyard Road
Fletcher, NC 28732
Email: smhville@bellsouth.net
Federal ID # 56-1427055
Office: 828-654-1650 Fax: 828-654-1661

TOWN_OF_MONTREAT 3/2/2016 Page: 4

Recap by Category

Items Total %

CLEANING 39.02 2.28%
CONTENT MANIPULATION 47.62 2.79%
GENERAL DEMOLITION 203.73 11.92%
HAZARDOUS MATERIAL REMEDIATION 417.96 24.45%
LIGHT FIXTURES 17.20 1.01%
WATER EXTRACTION & REMEDIATION 976.91 57.16%

Subtotal 1,702.44 99.61%
Material Sales Tax 6.73 0.39%

Total 1,709.17 100.00%

Packet Page 283



5

TOWN_OF_MONTREAT 3/2/2016 Page: 5

Main Level

Office

Main Level

10' 10"

11' 6"

20
' 8

"

21
' 4

"

Packet Page 284



1

ServiceMaster of Hendersonville

35 Old Brickyard Road
Fletcher, NC 28732
Email: smhville@bellsouth.net
Federal ID # 56-1427055
Office: 828-654-1650 Fax: 828-654-1661

Insured: Town Of Montreat Home: (828) 669-8002 x 303
Property: 96 Rainbow Terrace

Black Mountian, NC 28711

Claim Rep.: David Edwards Business: (828) 654-1650
E-mail: edwada@smhville.comBusiness: 35 Old Brickyard Rd

Fletcher, NC 28732

Estimator: David Edwards Business: (828) 654-1650
E-mail: edwada@smhville.comBusiness: 35 Old Brickyard Rd

Fletcher, NC 28732

Claim Number: SELF PAY Policy Number: SELF PAY Type of Loss: Water Damage

Date Contacted: 3/1/2016
Date of Loss: 1/1/2016 Date Received: 2/29/2016

Date Inspected: 3/2/2016 Date Entered: 3/2/2016 11:09 AM

Price List: NCAS8X_FEB16
Restoration/Service/Remodel

Estimate: TOWN_OF_MONTREAT-1

Thank you for choosing ServiceMaster of Hendersonville for you emergency services. We at ServiceMaster of Hendersonville
strive to provide the best service for a fair market value. We appreciate your trusting in us to help you through this difficult
situation. Please let us know if you have any questions.

WE APPRECIATE AND VALUE YOUR BUSINESS AND STRIVE TO PROVIDE THE BEST POSSIBLE SERVICE FOR
YOU. IF THERE IS ANYTHING THAT WE NEED TO KNOW THAT MAY HELP US GET BETTER AT PROVIDING
GREAT SERVICE FOR A FAIR MARKET VALUE PLEASE LET US KNOW.

Final Upload

Packet Page 285



2

ServiceMaster of Hendersonville

35 Old Brickyard Road
Fletcher, NC 28732
Email: smhville@bellsouth.net
Federal ID # 56-1427055
Office: 828-654-1650 Fax: 828-654-1661

TOWN_OF_MONTREAT-1 3/2/2016 Page: 2

TOWN_OF_MONTREAT-1

Main Level
Main Level

DESCRIPTION QTY RESET REMOVE REPLACE TAX O&P TOTAL

2.  Haul debris - per pickup truck load - 1.00 EA 114.48 0.00 0.00 22.90 137.38
including dump fees

Total:  Main Level 0.00 22.90 137.38

Office

20
' 8

"
21

' 4
"

10' 10"
11' 6"

2'
 8

"
13

' 8
"

14
'

4'
 4

"
4'

 8
"

2' 8"
6' 8"

7'
1' 6"

Office Height: 7' 3"

421.19 SF Walls
645.08 SF Walls & Ceiling
24.88 SY Flooring
63.00 LF Ceil. Perimeter

223.89 SF Ceiling
223.89 SF Floor
57.67 LF Floor Perimeter

Missing Wall - Goes to Floor 2' 8" X 6' 8" Opens into Exterior

Door 2' 8" X 6' 8" Opens into Exterior

DESCRIPTION QTY RESET REMOVE REPLACE TAX O&P TOTAL

28.  Protect contents - Cover with 223.89 SF 0.00 0.13 0.91 6.00 36.02
plastic

43.  Batt insulation - 12" - R38 - paper 64.00 SF 0.00 1.43 4.54 19.20 115.26
faced

30.  5/8" drywall - hung, taped, floated, 64.00 SF 0.00 1.34 2.07 17.58 105.41
ready for paint

33.  Drywall Installer / Finisher - per 1.00 HR 0.00 43.00 0.00 8.60 51.60
hour

Time to add blocking to propely install new drywall patch

34.  Texture drywall - heavy hand 223.89 SF 0.00 0.50 1.96 22.80 136.71
texture

35.  Content Manipulation charge - per 8.00 HR 0.00 23.81 0.00 38.10 228.58
hour

Hours to shirt contents from side to side to be able to complete ceiling repairs

36.  Seal & paint ceiling texture 223.89 SF 0.00 0.84 4.08 38.44 230.59

39.  Clean and deodorize carpet 223.89 SF 0.00 0.30 0.15 13.48 80.80

41.  Final cleaning - construction - 223.89 SF 0.00 0.12 0.00 5.38 32.25
Commercial

46.  Light fixture - Detach & reset 2.50 EA 0.00 34.39 0.00 17.20 103.18

Detach and reset 2 lights and reset only  1 light that was detached on the remediation side

49.  Detach & Reset Smoke detector 1.00 EA 33.30 0.00 0.00 0.00 6.66 39.96

Packet Page 286



3

ServiceMaster of Hendersonville

35 Old Brickyard Road
Fletcher, NC 28732
Email: smhville@bellsouth.net
Federal ID # 56-1427055
Office: 828-654-1650 Fax: 828-654-1661

TOWN_OF_MONTREAT-1 3/2/2016 Page: 3

CONTINUED - Office

DESCRIPTION QTY REMOVE REPLACE TOTALTAX O&PRESET

Totals:  Office 13.71 193.44 1,160.36

Total: Main Level 13.71 216.34 1,297.74

Labor Minimums Applied

DESCRIPTION QTY RESET REMOVE REPLACE TAX O&P TOTAL

32.  Drywall labor minimum 1.00 EA 0.00 12.82 0.00 2.56 15.38

38.  Painting labor minimum 1.00 EA 0.00 8.87 0.00 1.78 10.65

40.  Floor cleaning labor minimum 1.00 EA 0.00 35.55 0.00 7.12 42.67

42.  Cleaning labor minimum 1.00 EA 0.00 37.21 0.00 7.44 44.65

45.  Insulation labor minimum 1.00 EA 0.00 101.89 0.00 20.38 122.27

48.  Electrical labor minimum 1.00 EA 0.00 55.38 0.00 11.08 66.46

Totals:  Labor Minimums Applied 0.00 50.36 302.08

Line Item Totals: TOWN_OF_MONTREAT-1 13.71 266.70 1,599.82

Grand Total Areas:
421.19 SF Walls 223.89 SF Ceiling SF Walls and Ceiling645.08
223.89 SF Floor 24.88 SY Flooring 57.67 LF Floor Perimeter

0.00 SF Long Wall 0.00 SF Short Wall 63.00 LF Ceil. Perimeter

223.89 Floor Area 245.33 Total Area 421.19 Interior Wall Area
506.19 Exterior Wall Area 65.67 Exterior Perimeter of

Walls

0.00 Surface Area 0.00 Number of Squares 0.00 Total Perimeter Length
0.00 Total Ridge Length 0.00 Total Hip Length

Packet Page 287



4

ServiceMaster of Hendersonville

35 Old Brickyard Road
Fletcher, NC 28732
Email: smhville@bellsouth.net
Federal ID # 56-1427055
Office: 828-654-1650 Fax: 828-654-1661

TOWN_OF_MONTREAT-1 3/2/2016 Page: 4

Recap by Category

O&P Items Total %

CLEANING 166.80 10.43%
CONTENT MANIPULATION 219.59 13.73%
GENERAL DEMOLITION 114.48 7.16%
DRYWALL 253.53 15.85%
ELECTRICAL 88.68 5.54%
INSULATION 193.41 12.09%
LIGHT FIXTURES 85.98 5.37%
PAINTING 196.94 12.31%

O&P Items Subtotal 1,319.41 82.47%
Material Sales Tax 13.71 0.86%
Overhead 133.35 8.34%
Profit 133.35 8.34%

Total 1,599.82 100.00%

Packet Page 288



5

TOWN_OF_MONTREAT-1 3/2/2016 Page: 5

Main Level

Office

Main Level

10' 10"

11' 6"

20
' 8

"

21
' 4

"

Packet Page 289


	DRAFT_03102016_BOC_Agenda
	Request - CIP 2016 Public Hearing Presentation 031016
	USUBJECT:U  2016-2021 Capital Improvements Plan
	UAGENDA INFORMATION:
	Contact:  Ron Nalley

	Project Summary - General and Water Fund
	CIP 2016-2021 (2)
	DRAFT_01292016_Special_Meeting_Minutes
	UBoard members presentU: Mayor Tim Helms
	UBoard members absentU: Commissioner Kent Otto
	UAgenda Approval
	UClosed Session – Town Administrator’s Annual Performance Evaluation
	Commissioner Vinson moved to enter into Closed Session in accordance with North Carolina General Statute §143-318.11(6) to conduct the Town Administrator’s annual performance evaluation.  Commissioner Gilliland seconded and the motion carried 4/0.
	Commissioner Vinson moved to return to Open Session.  Commissioner Gilliland seconded and the motion carried 4/0.  Upon returning to open session, Mayor Helms thanked Mr. Nalley for his service to the Town.  Commissioner Vinson then moved to adjust Mr...
	UAdjournment

	DRAFT_02042016_BOC_Agenda_Meeting_Minutes
	UBoard members presentU: Mayor Tim Helms
	Mayor Pro Tem Kitty Fouche
	Commissioner Bill Gilliland
	UAgenda Approval
	Mayor Helms welcomed everyone to the meeting and commended the Public Services Department for all of their hard work during the snow storm.  Mayor Pro Tem Fouche also recognized Martha Campbell and the Dimmock family for opening their home to the crew...
	UPublic Hearings
	The Board will hold two Public Hearings at the beginning of next week’s meeting to receive comments on Proposed Revisions to Montreat General Ordinance, Chapter K, Article IV-Hillside Development; and Proposed Revisions to Montreat Zoning Ordinance, A...
	UMayor’s Communications
	Mayor Helms stated that he had no further communications other than reiterating his gratitude to the Public Works Department for their efforts during the snow.
	UConsent Agenda Review
	The proposed Consent Agenda will include the following items:
	UAdministrative Reports
	UPublic Comment – Agenda Items
	Mayor Helms reiterated that this Public Comment period was intended for remarks pertaining to items listed on the meeting agenda, including staff reports and communications.
	There were no comments from the public at this time.
	UOld Business
	UNew Business
	A.  ULookout Road Area-Preliminary Utility Service Plan:U  In April 2015, the Board of Commissioners agreed to complete a utility service plan for the Oklahoma Road and Lookout Road area.  At that time, McGill Associates submitted a proposal in the am...
	B. U2016-2021 Capital Improvements Plan:U  Following next week’s presentation, the Board will be asked to call for a Public Hearing to hear comments on this matter during the March 10, 2016 Town Council Meeting.
	C. UStreet Name Request-Covenant Lane:U  Montreat has had a street naming process in place for many years with names being historically taken from Synods and Presbyteries.  Buncombe County passed an Ordinance that states if a street name is already in...
	UPublic Comment-Other Topics
	Mayor Helms reiterated that this Public Comment period was intended for remarks pertaining to public business items not listed on the meeting agenda, including any reports or communications from other community entities.
	Mrs. Susanne McCaskill of 114 John Knox Road asked the Council to consider turning the issue of Town Hall over to the courts to make unbiased rulings for the citizens of Montreat.
	Mr. Wade Burns of 232 North Carolina Terrace would like for the Council to consider the idea that property owners on Lookout Road have been paying taxes for the past thirty years which adds up to a large amount of money that could be pro-rated to go t...
	UCommissioner Communications
	UUpcoming Meeting Dates
	Mayor Helms reviewed the following list of upcoming meeting dates and deadlines next week.
	UClosed Session
	The Closed Session has been rescheduled for next week’s Town Council Meeting.
	UAdjournment

	DRAFT_02082016_Board_Retreat_Minutes1
	UBoard members presentU: Mayor Tim Helms
	Mayor Pro Tem Kitty Fouche
	UAgenda Approval

	DRAFT_02112016_BOC_Meeting_Minutes
	UBoard members presentU: Mayor Tim Helms
	UAgenda Approval
	Mayor Helms advised the Council that the Minutes in this evening’s packet were incorrect and to refer to the copy of the Minutes found in the packet for February 4th, in which a section of the minutes were revised at the Council’s request.  Commission...
	UPublic Hearings
	UProposed Revisions to Montreat General Ordinance, Chapter K, Article IV-Hillside Development
	Mayor Helms opened the public hearing for comments and requested that Mr. Currie give a summary of the proposed revisions.  Mr. Currie stated that at the 2015 Annual Board Retreat, the Board asked staff to have the Planning and Zoning Commission revie...
	Mr. Wade Burns, 232 North Carolina Terrace, stated that the limits on impervious and disturbed areas in the Hillside Development Ordinance may cause a loss of practical use of the property.  While Mr. Burns feels that the proposed revision is a good s...
	UProposed Revisions to Montreat Zoning Ordinance, Article VI-General Provisions
	Mayor Helms opened the public hearing for comments and requested that Mr. Currie give a summary of the proposed revisions.  Mr. Currie stated that the Federal Fair Housing Act requires that municipalities make reasonable accommodations in their develo...
	There being no public comments, Mayor Helms closed the public hearing.
	UMayor’s Communications
	 Mayor Helms stated that beginning in March a public forum will begin at 6:30 p.m. in which the public is encouraged to ask the Board any questions they may have.  This public forum will be held on the first Thursday of every month with the Agenda Me...
	  Mayor Helms announced that he issued a Proclamation in support of the 2016 Women in Construction Week which occurs annually during the second week of March.
	 Mayor Helms read a letter from the President of the Arbor Day Foundation announcing that  Montreat had earned the recognition of a 2015 Tree City USA.  Mayor Helms expressed his gratitude to those instrumental in helping Montreat attain this certifi...
	 Mayor Helms informed those in attendance that at the March 3rd public forum the topic to be discussed will be to revisit options pertaining to the Texas Road Bridge Project.  KCI Engineering will be in attendance to make a presentation on the projec...
	 Mayor Helms expressed his gratitude to the Public Works Department for their efforts during the snow storm.
	UConsent Agenda Review
	With the adoption of the Consent Agenda, the Board approved the following items:
	 January 7, 2016 Agenda Meeting Minutes
	 January 14, 2016 Town Council Meeting Minutes as amended
	 Re-appointed Philip Arnold to the Audit Committee for a term of four years to expire on January 31, 2020
	UTown Administrator’s Communications
	 Mr. Nalley reminded the public that there is another open seat on the Audit Committee and applications can be dropped off at the Town Services Building.
	 Mr. Nalley expressed his appreciation to the Public Works and Police Departments during the snow storm and thanked the Dimmock/Campbell families for their hospitality.
	 Mr. Nalley thanked the group who provided Town Employees with the Valentine’s Day meal.
	 Mr. Nalley thanked the Council for their work at the Annual Board Retreat.
	UAdministrative Reports
	UPolice:U  Chief Staggs reviewed and presented the January 2016 monthly departmental activity report.  Chief Staggs expressed his gratitude to the Public Works Department for all of their assistance during the snow storm. The Department assisted with ...
	UPublic Works Director:U
	 Mr. Freeman reported that an inch of snow is needed on the ground before plowing becomes effective.  The Department’s first priority is to get one lane open to give emergency personnel access to all homes.   Following that, they go back and work on ...
	 Montreat College contacted Mr. Freeman and Mr. Currie about a wet weather spring on Missouri Road.  A contractor, who had previously done work for the College in that area, was asked to dig back into the area and it was discovered that a drain syste...
	UFinance Officer:U  Mr. Stackhouse presented and reviewed the following monthly reports:
	 December 2015 Financial Summary Report;
	 Final December 2015 Detailed Financial Statement;
	 Preliminary January 2016 Detailed Financial Statement;
	 January 31, 2016 Cash and investment Earnings Report
	UBuilding Inspector/Code Administrator:U  Mr. Currie presented and reviewed his January 2016 zoning and inspections activity report.
	UPublic CommentsU
	Mayor Helms reiterated that this Public Comment period was intended for remarks pertaining to items listed on the meeting agenda, including staff reports and communications.
	There were no comments from the public at this time.
	UOld Business
	UNew Business
	UUpcoming Meeting Dates
	Mayor Helms reviewed the following list of upcoming meeting dates and deadlines:
	UClosed Session
	Commissioner Vinson moved to enter into Closed Session in accordance with North Carolina General Statute §143-318.11(3) for attorney consultation regarding the Civil Action:  Carolyn Zoe Crowder, John L. Currie, Nancy B. Thomas, Henry W. Darden, Jr., ...
	Upon a motion by Commissioner Vinson and a second by Commissioner Otto with the motion carrying 5/0, the Board returned to Open Session.  No action was taken during the Closed Session.
	UAdjournment
	Upon returning to open session, Commissioner Vinson moved to adjourn the meeting.  Commissioner Gilliland seconded.  The meeting was adjourned at 9:42 p.m.

	BA4 FYE 16
	REQUEST_Appointment_Johnson_to_Landcare_Committee_03102016
	UAGENDA INFORMATIONU:
	Contact:   Ron Nalley, Town Administrator

	Landcare 16-0212 JRJ appl
	Request_Appointment_Todd_OpenSpaces
	UAGENDA INFORMATIONU:
	Contact:     Ron Nalley, Town Administrator

	Mary Nell Todd Open Space App
	ASB Signature Cards
	ADS Letter
	NEWS AlertCodeRedTest
	February 2016 MPD Status Report
	201601 BudgettoActual
	cash invest rpt 201602
	Jan 16 final
	Prelim Feb 16
	DOC013
	REQUEST_Lookout_Road_Utility_Service_Plan_03102016
	UAGENDA INFORMATION:
	Contact:  Steve Freeman, Public Works Director

	Lookout Road Utility Plan Information
	rn27jan2016-Oklahoma Rd Preliminary Engineering
	REQUEST_Texas_Road_Bridge_03102016
	UAGENDA INFORMATIONU:
	Contact:  Ron Nalley, Town Administrator

	Optionsavailable20160202
	Texas Bridge Project
	Texas Bridge Project Continued
	REQUEST_Town_Services_Office_Mitigation_&_Repairs_03102016
	UAGENDA INFORMATIONU:
	Contact:  David Currie, Building inspector

	TOWN_OF_MONTREAT_FINAL DRAFT
	TOWN_OF_MONTREAT-1_FINAL DRAFT



